
     

 
Notice of a public meeting of 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Policy & Scrutiny Committee 
 
To: Councillors Doughty (Chair), Cullwick (Vice-Chair), 

Pearson, Perrett, Waudby, Kilbane and Melly 
 

Date: Tuesday, 21 January 2020 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Snow Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G035) 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, members are asked to declare any 

personal interests not included on the Register of Interests, any 
prejudicial interests or any disclosable pecuniary interests which 
they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 17 

December 2019. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so. The deadline for 
registering is 5:00pm Monday 20 January 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Filming, Recording or Webcasting Meetings 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be filmed and webcast, or recorded, including any registered 
public speakers who have given their permission. This broadcast 
can be viewed at: http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 
Residents are welcome to photograph, film or record Councillors 
and Officers at all meetings open to the press and public. This 
includes the use of social media reporting, i.e. tweeting.  Anyone 
wishing to film, record or take photos at any public meeting 
should contact the Democracy Officer (whose contact details are 
at the foot of this agenda) in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at: 
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_f
or_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_201
60809.pdf 
 

4. Healthwatch York: Performance Monitoring / 
Six Monthly Review   

(Pages 9 - 32) 

 Members will receive the Healthwatch performance monitoring / 
six monthly review.  This includes a review of the achievements 
of the Service in delivering the agreed outcomes and 
consideration of how the Service might be developed going 
forward.   
 

5. Multiple Complex Needs Network Update   (Pages 33 - 102) 
 Members will receive an update report on The York Multiple 

Complex Needs (MCN) network.  
 

6. Work Plan   
 

(Pages 103 - 106) 

7. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent. 

 

http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf


 

Democracy Officer: 
 
Name – Michelle Bennett 
Telephone – 01904 551573 
E-mail - michelle.bennett@york.gov.uk 
 
For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting.  
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports 
 

 
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Health & Adult Social Care Policy & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date 17 December 2019 

Present Councillors Doughty (Chair), Cullwick (Vice-
Chair), Pearson, Perrett, Waudby, Kilbane, 
and Melly (left the meeting for Agenda item 5, 
recorded at Minute 48)  

 

44. Declarations of Interest  
 

Members were asked to declare, at this point in the meeting, 
any personal interests not included on the Register of Interests 
or any prejudicial or discloseable pecuniary interest that they 
might have in respect of the business on the agenda.   

 
Councillor Melly declared a prejudicial interest in item 5 of the 
agenda the item 5, NHS Vale of York Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) - Mental Health GP Services Closure report in 
that she had knowledge of this service.  Councillor Melly did not 
take part in the discussion on that item.  There were no further 
declarations of interest. 

 
45. Minutes  
 

Resolved:  That the minutes of the previous meeting of the  
committee held on 11 November 2019 be approved 
and signed as a correct record. 

 
46. Public Participation  
 

It was reported that there had been two registrations to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 

 
Cllr K Taylor, Ward Member for Holgate spoke on agenda item 
4, Older Persons’ Accommodation Overview to express his 
frustration that limited information had been provided within the 
report regarding the options under consideration for the Oak 
Haven site.  He requested that an option appraisal on the site 
be received for scrutiny at this committee prior to any decision 
being taken by the Executive Committee.  

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



Ms Rowena Stephenson spoke on agenda item 5, NHS Vale of 
York Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) - Mental Health GP 
Services closure.  She had registered to speak as a user of this 
service at the time of the decommissioning, and also as one of 
the founders and facilitators of the York Survivors of 
Bereavement of Suicide (SoBS) group.  She praised this 
service and spoke about how it had benefitted her because the 
treatment had been flexible and tailored to her specific needs.  
She asked the following questions of the CCG: 
(i)  When it had been decided to accept “non-recurrent funds” 

in “complex financial circumstances” what had been the 
strategy for continuing the service when that funding 
ceased?  

(ii)  If there had been a plan in relation to funding the service 
going forward, what took priority?  

(iii)  If it had not been possible to secure further funding when 
the pilot had finished, why weren’t front line staff notified 
and vulnerable patients forewarned that their treatment 
could be curtailed?  

 
47. Older Persons’ Accommodation Overview  
 

Members received a report which provided an update on the 
progress of the Council’s Older Persons’ Accommodation 
programme and the various projects within it.  

 
The Older Persons’ Accommodation Programme Manager was 
in attendance to present the report and to respond to questions.  
The following information was provided in response to 
questions from committee members: 

 

 Oak Haven - due to planning objections regarding the mass 
and scale of the site and related costs that would have been 
passed on to residents, the original scheme had not been 
viable.  A report providing an options appraisal would be 
received at the Executive Committee in March.  This 
committee would have the opportunity to comment on 
proposed options and to receive the report, prior to 
Executive. 

 Further information on the Lowfield Green developments 
would be included in the above report to Executive in March. 

 Previously the housing programme had focused on modern 
care home accommodation moving towards delivering 
independent living programmes.  Findings from the recent 
consultation had shown a shift in that 74 per cent of  

Page 2



residents wished to give consideration to ‘right sizing’ to 
smaller, safe, manageable properties. 

 To support ‘ right sizing’ their team were working with 
partners in the City such as Age Concern and the Joseph 
Rowntree Housing Trust to put together a directory of living 
options and a support package to assist with this. 

 Conversion of current properties and assisting people in their 
own homes would be delivered through the Housing 
Revenue Account. 

 Further plans to meet demand for smaller more manageable 
properties included: a number of other private applications to 
provide 140 accommodation units; 2 further care home 
schemes on Tadcaster Road for 25 units.  The programme 
currently had plans for 319 units. 

 
Resolved:  Members noted the report.  

 
Reason:  In order to inform the Members of development of 

future projects within the Older Persons’ 
Accommodation Programme 

 
48. CCG - Mental Health GP Services closure  
 

Cllr Melly left the meeting area for consideration of this item.   
 

Members received a report which provided an explanation of 
the circumstances regarding the set up and eventual closure of 
the Primary Care Mental Health team service. 

 
The Primary Mental Health Team (PMHT) had been set up by 
Priory Medical Group (PMG) in January 2019 on behalf of nine 
Vale of York Practices.  The service had been established to 
support frontline general practitioners by providing additional 
services to refer patients with mental health issues.  The source 
of funding was from the NHS General Practice Forward View 
Practice Transformation Support Scheme.  The funding source 
was non-recurrent money.  Based on previous funding 
allocations to the CCG there had been an expectation that this 
would be maintained.  However in 2019/20 the NHS had made 
significant changes to the GP contract and the fund was re-
allocated to fund the establishment of Primary Care Networks 
(PCN).  The re-allocated funds for PCNs have strict instructions 
on their use and had left no scope to channel these resources 
to the existing Primary Care Mental Health staff. 

 

Page 3



The Executive Director for Primary Care and Population Health, 
NHS Vale of York Clinical Commissioning Group and the 
Accountable Officer for the NHS Vale of York Clinical 
Commissioning Group, were in attendance to present the report 
and to respond to questions.  

 
The following information was provided in response to 
questions from committee members: 

 CCG budgets are committed years in advance.  It had 
therefore not been possible to draw down funds. 

 The Financial Plan 2019/20 was for a deficit of £8.8m, a 
reduction on the previous year.  The CCG were under a 
legal obligation to stick to that.  Budget allocation had to be 
recognisable in terms of waiting times for example children’s 
waiting times. The CCG went through a process of 
prioritising what it had to do in terms of its statutory 
obligation to reduce waiting times.   

 The CCG’s Governing Body had prioritised mental health 
and had committed to the minimum requirement for the next 
5 years.  In terms of equality of access to services, there are  
360,000 people in the city of York, it would not have been 
fair to put extra resources to one small area. 

 Mental health funding for the City of York had increased by 
£3.5 million of dedicated funding this year compared to 
2018/19. 

 In response to Members questions on why this service had 
not been considered to be vital and incorporated in the  
additional £3.5 million spent on mental health this year it was 
explained that the CCG had made budgetary decisions a 
long time prior to this service being established and was not 
in a position to draw down committed funds. 

 The timeline for closure had been that the CCG were aware 
at the beginning of the year that the funding had not been 
recurrent.  PMG had approached the CCG in September for 
financial assistance.  The service had closed in October.  

 There had been no exit strategy because the intention had 
been to support the service, unfortunately, that had not been 
possible. 

 A learning point had been not to use non-recurrent funding 
to launch a new service particularly in relation to those most 
vulnerable. 

 There had not been an evaluation or data analysis 
undertaken as the service had not been in operation for a full 
year. 

Page 4



 There had not been a business plan as the decision to 
establish this service had been made by Healthwatch 
Members and GP practices.  The practices make their own 
internal business cases. 

 The direction that the CCG is going in it will become more of 
a funder with GP practices tacking commissioning decisions 
so it is there responsibility to have exit strategies. 

 Patients receiving this service had been provided with two 
further sessions then returned to the care of their GPs to be 
directed to the most appropriate existing alternative service.  
(A list of these services can be found within the report at 
p.16 of the Agenda). 

 They were unable to discuss what had happened to some 
members of staff who had been recruited to this service as 
they would now be involved in a HR process.  A number of 
staff had been retained by practices or gone on to work for 
other mental health providers. 

 Had the service not been in existence GPs would have 
directed service users to the most appropriate service as 
listed in the report (at p.16 of the agenda).   

 Following the closure of this service there had been an 
increase in those accessing the appropriate existing 
services.   

 Other practices had used the Practice Transformation 
Support Scheme funding on: complex care teams, care co-
ordinators, health care assistants and checks for people with 
hearing disabilities.  Practices to the North used it for mental 
health assistants, Selby District did not draw down the 
money. 

 Practices are being encouraged to pool resources and work 
together.  PMG had been ambitious and innovative in terms 
of taking the lead and creating a service on a scale that has 
not been seen before.  It is unfortunate that this service had 
to close but PMG should be commended for their hard work 
and forward thinking. 

 Plans in regard to mental health spend next year included  
Improvement to access of the following services: dementia 
and autisms services, talking therapies, mental health 
services for children, eating disorders and personality 
disorders.  There will be significant improvements with 
recurrent funding to that of the last 2 years and a 
commitment for the next 5 years.   

 
Resolved:  That Members will communicate with each other via  

Page 5



email to agree suitable phrasing of a question that 
could be put to colleagues in the CCG to ensure 
further accountability on this matter. 

 
Reason: To ensure that Members are kept informed of 

changes to services. 
 
 
49. York Multiple Complex Needs Network Update Report  
 

The Chair informed the committee that this item would be 
deferred to the next meeting of this committee due to the fact 
that the Lead Officer was unable to attend the meeting this 
evening.  

 
50. Corporate Review of Poverty in York  
 

Members received a report which presented the committee with 
a request by the Customer and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Management Committee (CSMC) to undertake a review into 
elements of poverty in the city which fall within the Health and 
Adult Social Care Policy and Scrutiny Committee’s remit, as 
part of a corporate review of poverty in York. 

Resolved:  That Cllrs: Kilbane, Melly, Cullwick and Cllr Doughty  
would form the Health Review of Poverty in York 
task group and would arrange to meet prior to the 
next meeting of this committee on the 21 January to 
define the remit, aims and objectives of the group.  
This would be received as a report to this committee 
on 18 February. 

 
Reason: In order to progress a scrutiny review on this key 

aspect. 
 

51. Work Plan  
 

Members considered the work plan for 2020.  The following 
were agreed as alterations and/or additions to the Work Plan for 
2020. 

 
21 January 
Adult Safeguarding (if possible within the reports timeframe).  
Multiple Complex Needs Update 

 

Page 6



February 
Older Persons Accommodation – Independent Living with Extra 
Care 

 
Action:  The retreat Schoen Clinic – Members requested 

further clarity on what services would be provided to 
ensure there is not duplication.  The Scrutiny Officer 
to check this via email with a view to possibly 
inviting them to a future meeting of this committee. 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Cllr Doughty, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.30 pm and finished at 7.20 pm]. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Healthwatch York: Performance Monitoring / Six Monthly Review  
 

 

Name of Provider York CVS 

Service Provided Healthwatch York 

Contract Start Date 
(Service 
Commencement Date) 
 

01 April 2017  

Contract Finish Date 
(Expiry Date) 
  

31 March 2020 

 
The aims of the performance monitoring / six monthly review process are 
to: 

 

 Review the achievements of the Service in delivering the agreed outcomes 

 Consider how the Service might be developed going forward 

 Identify how beneficiary needs are being delivered 

 Establish that the Service is being managed in accordance with the 
Agreement 
 
The information contained in this report will be used as a basis for the Annual 
Service Review, in conjunction with that information provided on a regular basis 
during each year of the Term.  
 
Six monthly performance monitoring reports will include a mixture of qualitative 
and quantitative data to ensure that the process is not simply a mechanistic 
one, but feeds into a continuous cycle of improved performance. Six monthly 
reports will be presented to Performance Management Group meetings on 
dates to be agreed. 
 
In addition, a six monthly performance management meeting will be held 
between representatives of the Council and Healthwatch York. The 
performance management group meetings will: 
 

 Agree additional Key Performance Indicators that will constitute six monthly 
performance summaries 

 Set annual milestones for each Key Performance Indicator as appropriate 

 Receive six monthly performance summaries, define any gaps in performance 
and discuss how these might be rectified. 
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



 
 

In addition to the six monthly reporting process it is proposed that 360 degree 
feedback on Healthwatch York activity is invited from all key stakeholders 
annually. 
 

  
INDEX 
Section 1: To be completed six monthly 
Section 2:  To be completed six monthly  
Section 3: To be completed six monthly   
 

Signature on behalf of Provider 

Signature 
Siân Balsom 

Name  
Siân Balsom 

Date 
05 December 
2019 

 
 

SECTION 1: Service Provided 01/04/19 - 30/09/19 

 
What have been the main focus areas of Healthwatch York during the last six 
months?   

 
Qtr 1 

 Published 4 engagement reports – Changes to services: 
Anticoagulation; Changes to services: BMI thresholds for elective 
surgery; CAMHS update report; post-Archways update report. 

 Held engagement events focused around the NHS Long Term Plan, as 
part of a national agreement between NHS England and Healthwatch 
England 

 Published our Annual Report 2018/19 

 Developed a project plan for exploring experiences of the Eye Clinic 
Liaison Officer role 

 

Qtr 2 

 Held our Annual Meeting  

 Published our local York version of the NHS Long Term Plan work  

 Began the Market Stall project on 24 August (more later in this report!) 

 Held our first meeting with someone with experience of the 
safeguarding process for the Safeguarding Stories work 

 

Page 10

https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/FINAL-Anticoag-Healthwatch-report.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Updated-FINAL-BMI-Healthwatch-report.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Updated-FINAL-BMI-Healthwatch-report.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/FINAL-CAMHS-Healthwacth-report.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/FINAL-Whats-happened-since-Archways-report.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/FINAL-Compressed-HW-York-Annual-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Final-Key-messages-from-York-Long-Term-Plan-engagement.pdf


 
 

Key Performance Indicators to include: 
 

 The impact of Healthwatch activity on community / commissioners / 
service providers – including progress towards Public Engagement 
Reports, involvement in key strategic meetings. 

 Feedback mechanisms used by Healthwatch to inform participants and 
the wider public on the outcomes of the issues covered by Healthwatch. 

 Communication and Reach - evidence of public, patient, carer and user-
group engagement with / participation in Healthwatch  

 Financial / Spend  monitoring 

 e.g. The number, frequency and type of methods used by the Host to 
engage with individuals, organisations and groups.  (captured in 
quarterly Information and Signposting Reports) 

 The outcomes of any visit to Health and Social Care premises in York. 
 
What progress has been made during the last quarter in respect of the 
above? Have you identified any barriers to achievement of agreed 
outcomes? 

 
Impact of Activity / Public Engagement Reports 
 
Impact of activity: 
 
Responses to reports 
CYC response to Archways report 
One Team’ Achievements in 2018/19 

  
Improved communication and relationships 

 Progress with co-location of key players…..but still more to do 
 Daily 10:30am meeting of reps from all services working well 
 Monthly medicine management meeting 
 Links with the Complex Discharge Hub to facilitate handovers where 
appropriate 

Streamlined /clearer processes 

 Development of a single referral form for step-down referrals 
 Single referral point for, and joint triage, of step-down referrals 
 Revised Supported Discharge process with most cases being assessed by 
CRT first 

 More robust reporting process for delays and people waiting for long-term care 
packages for CRT, and in development with HSG 

 

Page 11



 
 

 
Management Information 

 Continued development of management information - 6 Core KPIs  

Hospital responses to Archways and Anticoagulation Reports 

Cheryl Gaynor, Executive Support Manager 
The two recommendations for the Trust refer to ongoing monitoring and 
continuation of work that we have already started: 
 
Discharge Communication / Earlier Planning 
 
We note the recommendation from the review and this work is ongoing through 
the development of the SAFER programme across the inpatient wards in the 
hospital and the development of the Integrated Discharge Hub with our local 
authority partners. 
 
Monitoring overnight issues 
 
We note the recommendation from the review and will monitor any feedback 
from those using our services around how we are able to meet their overnight 
needs. 
 
These have been shared with the relevant operational managers to take 
forward. 
 
Response from the Ageing Well Partnership to the recommendation in the 
Healthwatch Report entitled ‘what’s happened since the closure of 
Archways’ 
 
Recommendation: Work with other sectors to address non-healthcare 
issues such as social isolation mentioned in engagement feedback 
 
Response: The top priority in the Ageing Well theme of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2022 is to reduce loneliness and isolation for older 
people. York is adopting an asset based approach to engaging citizens to help 
address loneliness and has invested in a number of co-produced early 
intervention and prevention programmes including Ways to Wellbeing (social 
prescribing); Good Gym; Local Area Coordinators; Community Catalysts; 
Health Champions and Cultural Prescribing.  
 
The multi-agency Ageing Well Partnership supports these and has received 
updates on progress. The Partnership is leading on York working towards 
becoming an Age Friendly City and is using the approved WHO Framework to 

Page 12



 
 

shape that work. An Age Friendly Operations Group, reporting to the 
partnership, has been established to lead on this and to engage with 
appropriate groups and stakeholders on the themes in the framework. The 
themes are: 
 

 Getting out and about (Your Journey and Your Destination) 

 You Time (voluntary, leisure and employment) 

 Your access to information 

 Your home 

 Your services. 
 
For additional information please refer to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Annual Report 2018/19 which gives more detail.  
 
NHS Vale of York Clinical Commissioning Group 

The CCG welcomes Healthwatch York reports and takes on board the 

recommendations. During the process and development of the reports by 

Healthwatch York, NHS Vale of York CCG helped review the documents to 

provide information and updates on recommendations. 

  

We would like to formally offer this response to the recommendations for the 

reports: 

  

CAMHS 

NHS Vale of York CCG and Tees Esk and Wear Valleys Trust (TEWV) worked 

with Healthwatch on the report which concerns the specialist CAMHS service, 

and provided the detail of the various service developments and investment 

from 2016 when TEWV took on the specialist mental health contract.  As 

members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are aware, the CCG and TEWV 

have invested an additional £660K in the specialist service since the beginning 

of 2018/2019, of which £540K is recurrent, enabling earlier assessments, more 

autism assessments and reduced waiting lists.   

  

The Local Transformation Plan sets out the details of work of the whole local 

system of support around the wellbeing of children and young people, including 

the jointly funded school well-being service, the counselling service and 

specialist support for eating disorders, Youth Justice Service and the FIRST 

service as well as for specialist generic CAMHS.  The Plan demonstrates the 

significant progress made across all levels of need and is also forward looking 

Page 13

https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/18279/health_and_wellbeing_board_annual_report_2018-2019
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/18279/health_and_wellbeing_board_annual_report_2018-2019
https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/data/uploads/publications/mental-health/ltp-final-2019-update.pdf


 
 

against national and local policy drivers around joint working across the whole 

pathway of need, and an integrated approach from ages 0-25.   

   

Understanding patients experience of Thresholds for Elective Surgery 

Recommendation: Consider ways to gather needed information/data to know if 

the policy is effective in saving money and improving patient outcomes in the 

areas outlined in this report: 

Response: The CCG uses national RightCare data to measure activity levels. 

Our Patient Reported Outcome Measures, (PROMS) have improved for hip and 

knee surgery and activity levels have reduced.  

  

Recommendation: Work in co-production with members of the public and to 

understand how to support people who have difficulty engaging with weight loss 

activity. Consider what programmes work best for people with specific 

conditions or barriers. 

Recommendation: Create accessible and clear pathways of support, 

considering what pro-active steps can be taken to prevent individuals falling 

through the gaps and for the more disadvantaged individuals to engage with 

support programmes and services. 

  

Response: Weight management and healthy lifestyle services are run by the 

local authority public health teams. Efforts to support people who have difficulty 

engaging with weight loss activity is not solely a CCG responsibility. This is a 

joint effort between the local authority and health. The CCG is actively part of a 

Health Weight Steering Group with other partners (e.g. local authority, third 

sector) working to try and improve services. The CCG’s Director of Population 

Health and Primary care sits on the group. 

  

The local authority public health teams would need to be invited to comment 

about their involvement with patients and the public who are involved in weight 

loss activity. 

  

Different tiers of weight management services cover different activities. 

Definitions vary locally but according to NICE (2019) usually tier 1 covers 

universal services (such as health promotion); tier 2 covers lifestyle 

Page 14



 
 

interventions; tier 3 covers specialist weight management services; and tier 4 

covers bariatric surgery. 

  

For Tier 1-2, this is part of the local authority public health team’s work, but with 

support from the CCG through the Healthy Weight Steering Group. Accessible 

and clear pathways of support are in place for the Tier 3 service that has been 

commissioned. The pilot has been running for three years.  

  

Within our patch we offer a number of interventions for tier 3 and tier 4 weight 

management services. 

The Tier 3 Obesity Management Service 

The Tier 3 Obesity Management Service is a medically-led multi-disciplinary 

obesity management programme which has been commissioned by the CCG 

and is provided by York Teaching Hospitals Trust, has been a pilot scheme at 

York Hospital since February and is now onto its seventh cohort of 

patients.  The service welcomes referrals from primary care colleagues and is 

working closely with primary care teams to increase and raise awareness of the 

referral opportunities. 

  

The programme lasts up to 24 months, with an initial 12 weeks of intensive 

input and support that is closely monitored. During this period patients will 

attend group and one to one sessions with a dietician, physiotherapist and 

counsellor. Visits to Energise gym three days a week are also included in the 

programme.   

  

The service is available to patients aged 18 years of age and over, who are 

registered with a Vale of York GP practice, with a BMI of 35 or over and have 

maximised primary care and community conservative management including: 

  

 Receiving healthy weight and lifestyle advice in primary care 

 Evidence of active participation in modification to exercise and diet, which is 

patient- or GP-led, or delivered by an independent commercial service or Tier 2 

service, depending on local availability 

 Trial of pharmacological interventions, where there are no contra-indications 

 Understanding of the commitment required for the Tier 3 programme and the 

willingness to engage. 

Page 15



 
 

 

 

Tier 4 Obesity Management Service 

  

Bariatric surgery, Tier 4 of the Obesity Management Service, is not routinely 

commissioned but referral to Tier 4 will be considered by the Tier 3 weight 

management programme multi-disciplinary team panel following completion of 

the Tier 3 programme for the most cost effective subgroups where the patient 

has a: 

  

 BMI ≥50, or 

 BMI ≥45 with significant poorly controlled type 2 diabetes 

 The Tier 3 MDT Panel will consider bariatric surgery as a treatment for 

selected patients with severe and complex obesity, where all of the following 

criteria have been met:  

  

 the person has not responded to all other non-invasive therapies and is willing 

to have the surgery  

 there is no specific clinical or psychological contraindications to this type of 

surgery  

 the person is generally fit for anaesthesia and surgery, with assessment of 

peri-operative mortality and postoperative complications of bariatric surgery  

 the person commits to long-term follow-up and dietary compliance and is 

considered likely to engage in the follow up programme that is required after 

any bariatric surgical procedure. 

Patient information can be found here: 

https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/rss/data/uploads/tier-3-obesity-management-

service/pi1304-introduction-to-the-adult-tier-3-weight-management-programme-

v1-f....pdf  

  

‘What has happened since Archways’ report  

The health and social care system is committed to a local ‘home first’ approach 

with the greater integration of services and an increased emphasis on prevention 

and self-care. The vision of out of hospital care and integration across the system 

is to support and enable the population of Vale of York to improve their health 

and wellbeing by organising our services around the needs of the person, their 

Page 16

https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/rss/data/uploads/tier-3-obesity-management-service/pi1304-introduction-to-the-adult-tier-3-weight-management-programme-v1-f....pdf
https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/rss/data/uploads/tier-3-obesity-management-service/pi1304-introduction-to-the-adult-tier-3-weight-management-programme-v1-f....pdf
https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/rss/data/uploads/tier-3-obesity-management-service/pi1304-introduction-to-the-adult-tier-3-weight-management-programme-v1-f....pdf


 
 

family and the community to provide integrated care and support. The 

reconfiguration aligns with all of the principles for Out of Hospital Services 

outlined within York Teaching Hospital, NHS Foundation Trust - Out of Hospital 

Care Strategy. 

   

Anti-coagulation report 

The original aim of this project in 2015 was to move from a traditional phlebotomy-

based service to a service that is provided to patients closer to their home.  When 

the project was initially scoped, 4,200 anticoagulation patients were managed by 

York Hospital (the total number of patients is now closer to 3,900). Previously – 

patients had to go to the hospital, pay for their parking, wait to have their bloods 

taken and wait a day or two for the results. As part of the new service patients 

were offered an instant finger prick test and immediate results and dosing 

instructions at their local GP surgery. 

  

As part of its work following engagement was carried out: 

 Anticoagulation Survey – 2015/16  

 Surveys for patients to complete were provided at GP practices  

 The CCG’s project manager attended York Teaching Hospital NHS Trust 

clinic sites (York Hospital, Selby Hospital and Asda) to discuss the 

proposed changes with patients and to collect their views 

  

Who was engaged and involved? 

 Patients who required anticoagulation monitoring both in General Practice and 

at the York Hospital Anticoagulation Clinic 

 York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

 GP Practices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 
 

 

What patients said What we did 

Patients wanted clinics 

to be more accessible 

and for it to be easier to 

park. 

The service was moved to GP 

surgeries to ensure that patients 

would find it easier to access. 

Patients said that they 

wanted quicker results 

and access to clinics at 

convenient times. 

A finger prick service was introduced to 

provide quicker results for patients. 

Patients said that clear 

information was 

important. 

The CCG created a patient leaflet to 

provide information about the new 

service and its benefits. 

  

Next steps 

Initially patients were given a choice of where they would like to attend for their 

anticoagulation treatment, but this led to a slow transfer of patients to the 

primary care service. 21 practices confirmed that they would provide the 

service. It was agreed that we would undergo a procurement process to 

establish a default provider for the patients of the 5 practices that didn’t want to 

offer the service (550 anti-coag patients). This service was put in place in early 

2019. As more patients transferred to GP the hospital clinic reduced its staffing 

levels accordingly.  

  

Our response to recommendations from Healthwatch: 

  

Anti-coagulation report: 

  

Recommendation: Consider feedback to date in terms of accessibility to 

appointments outside of working hours and in relation to individuals’ needs. 

  

Across the Vale of York patch evening and weekend routine appointments are 

offered as part of improving access to GP services.   

  

Recommendation: Commit to co-design and co-production (in line with the 

Social Care Institute of Excellence definition) when creating new services. For 

future service changes that involve multiple services/providers, consider ways 

of working together to make sure positive patient experience is at the forefront). 

Page 18



 
 

  

The CCG continually strives to improve the way it develops services in 

partnership with patients. The CCG has designed a toolkit to provide staff with 

resources to help them to assess the level of public and patient engagement 

that is needed within any project large or small.  

  

The CCG uses the NHS England patient and public engagement statutory 

guidelines to assist with decision making. This process includes tools such as a 

stakeholder mapping process, guidance for equality impact assessments and a 

template to address if the legal duty needs to be applied.  

  

The CCG wants to be sure that the decisions it takes make a real, positive 

difference to its population. To ensure that participation activity reaches diverse 

communities and groups with distinct health needs the CCG has implemented a 

Quality and Equality Impact Assessment tool to assess and measure the 

potential impact of proposed service changes or reviews, as well as the need 

for patient and public involvement.  

  

The CCG provides regular updates to staff to emphasise the importance of 

involving patients and public in its work to: 

 increase awareness of the legal duty to involve 

 encourage staff to incorporate communications and engagement throughout 

any project cycle, and   

 improve knowledge of the connection between equality, engagement and 

health inequalities duties within the NHS. 

Information about the training toolkit the CCG provides for staff can be found 

here: https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/quality-equality-impact-

assessments-qeia/ 

 
Personal Impact 
In May, we were called by a woman in Enfield. She rang to say thank you to 
Healthwatch York for our 2017 report on adults with ADHD. She came across it 
during a google hunt for information to support her son, now in his mid-40’s, 
who’s only just been diagnosed. He has been in and out of prison, and has a 
serious drug problem, and his mum said it’s only now that they realise what he’s 
been struggling with all these years. She said our report was the most useful 
thing she’s come across by miles, and it has been enormously helpful for her 
and her son. Reading it has prompted her to make an appointment to see her 

Page 19

https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/quality-equality-impact-assessments-qeia/
https://www.valeofyorkccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/quality-equality-impact-assessments-qeia/


 
 

local HW, and she is also taking the report with her everywhere she goes, 
showing it to their GP & other professionals. She’s also been using it to try and 
win round family members who she says have refused to have contact with her 
son for years.  
 
A gay man saw the advert for the Free to Be Me training session we held with 
York LGBT Forum and York Dementia Alliance. On reading about it, he got in 
touch with York LGBT Forum. He had recently lost his partner, who had 
dementia. He said that seeing this information “blew his mind”, and made him 
realise he could finally be himself. Although he could not attend the session 
itself, it led to him feeling able to reach out to others for support for the first time. 
He and his partner had kept their relationship hidden for 30 years, and the 
experience of caring for his partner when he had dementia was really traumatic 
trying to maintain the secret of their relationship as his partner declined. They 
avoided services, and possible support opportunities in order to protect their 
secret. They pretended to be cousins who lived together up to his partner’s 
death. Seeing our publicity information was, in his words, “a life-changing 
moment”. He has since written about his experience for York DAA, joined York 
LGBT Forum, and has been sharing his story.  
 
Key strategic meetings 
We attended all Health and Wellbeing Board meetings during this period. We 
also regularly attended the Mental Health Partnership, Ageing Well Partnership, 
Safeguarding Adults Board, and Voice and Involvement meetings. We also 
attend the Information Exchange, enabling information sharing between the 
Care Quality Commission, local authority, health colleagues and ourselves.   
 
Developing a Multiple Complex Needs network for York 
Funded through Lankelly Chase, the MCN Network meets every two months to 
support providers, practitioners and people with lived experience to develop a 
system wide approach in supporting people experiencing multiple and complex 
needs.  
 
The overarching aim of this multi-agency network is to achieve better outcomes 
for people living with multiple complex needs and reduce the associated 
challenges to services. The network generates learning and knowledge and 
builds relationships to achieve its aims.  
 
A key component of this work is to develop creative ways to include the voices 
of people often excluded from this type of work including people with personal 
experience of multiple needs and people working on the frontline. 
 
This work has initially focused around developing a shared understanding of 
what could be changed.  

Page 20



 
 

 
Communication, Engagement & Reach 
Staff and volunteer hours by meeting type is detailed below: 
 
Staff hours 
 

 
 
Volunteer hours 

 
 
For more details regarding our engagement work, we are happy to share our 
engagement calendar, giving details of all events we have held and participated 
in. 

 
During public strategic meetings, both Healthwatch York staff and volunteer 
representatives complete Reps Reports. These reports can be found here: 
 
April: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/All.pdf 
May: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/all.pdf 
June: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/june.pdf 
July: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/all.pdf 
August: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/All.pdf 
September: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/all-
reports.pdf 

0

50

100

150

200

Total

Total

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

Total

Total

Page 21

https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/All.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/all.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/june.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/all.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/All.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/all-reports.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/all-reports.pdf


 
 

 
Outcomes of visits to Health and Social Care premises in York     
In partnership with City of York Council, we support volunteers to visit local care 
homes and speak to residents about the care they receive. Our care home 
visits contributed to and enhanced 11 City of York Council care home reports, 
having engaged with 65 residents in total. 
 
Readability Work 
Our readability volunteers have an interest in supporting local providers and 
commissioners to improve their patient information. Over this half year we have 
reviewed 25 documents, 19 for York Teaching Hospital, and 6 for City of York 
Council.   
 
 
Partner Programme 
We have 40 voluntary and community sector organisations who are signed up 
as Healthwatch York partners, and 2 pharmacy partner organisations. We invite 
our partners to our quarterly Assembly and Annual Meeting to get involved in 
conversations about what is happening locally in health and social care. We 
also work closely with them to progress our work plan reports.  
 
Volunteers 
At the end of September 2019 we had 42 volunteers covering a range of 
volunteer roles. These include Representatives, Community Champions, Enter 
& View, Care Home Assessor, Research, Marketing and Communications, 
Readability Panel, Office Support and Leadership Group members. 
 
We continue to support volunteers with regular meetings, both for all volunteers 
and specific meetings for certain roles. As a result of feedback from our 
volunteers, we have added quarterly drop-in meetings for volunteers, meaning 
that alongside our Assembly and formal Volunteer Meetings there is something 
every month our volunteers can attend if they choose.  
 
We send out a bulletin for volunteers and partners every month, to help keep 
them informed of our activities, and to share information about health and social 
care. These can be found here: 
 
April: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/april.pdf 
May: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/may.pdf 
June: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/June.pdf  
July: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/july.pdf  
August: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/August.pdf 

Page 22

https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/april.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/may.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/June.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/july.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/August.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/August.pdf


 
 

September: https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/10/September.pdf 

 
Engagement 
We continue to carry out community engagement activities at events and 
locations throughout York. Our volunteers are a regular presence at many 
community venues, signposting people to services across the city and recording 
people’s experiences of health and social care services.  
 
These include our regular outreach work, which is going strong. We now have 
monthly drop-ins at Lidgett Grove, St Sampson’s café for 60+, Spurriergate 
centre, Café Nelli, Fulford Church, Oaken Grove Community Café, Acomb 
Library, West Offices, Ellerby’s Hub at York Hospital, the Church of the Holy 
Redeemer, Red Tower’s ‘pay as you feel’ café, and Planet Food. We have 
continued our involvement with the York Explore Mobile Library, travelling to 
locations across the city. We have also done various events with both York St 
John and University of York, which included monthly stands in the library 
throughout exam season at York St John and joining in with University of York’s 
Study Smart Campaign. Throughout the year we do various one off events with 
various other organisations such as Kyra women’s charity, York Advocacy, 
YOPA and York Mind. During the Summer period we do various events all over 
York, running stalls at Fayres and other Summer days such as Copmanthorpe 
Carnival, West Bank Park Summer fayre and many others. 
 
Through our relationship with Make It York, we have created an exciting new 
strand of engagement work – our market stall. Make It York have given us use 
of a stall at Shambles Market every Tuesday, free of charge, year-round. We 
manage the stall as a community resource. Local community groups, charities 
and Partner organisations have jumped at the chance to use the stall, which is 
fully booked until late autumn 2020. We use the stall ourselves on the last 
Tuesday of each month, and find that we get to talk to members of the public 
from socio-economic and ethnic groups that we don’t encounter so often at 
other engagement events. 
 
We have sent out our Annual Report and Summer magazine. This was a new 
format, responding to feedback that our summer magazine has been missed 
since we moved to 3 magazines and the Annual Report to reduce costs. This 
was produced and distributed by post to 325 people and organisations, and by 
email to 380 individuals and organisations. It was also available through our 
website, and was distributed at our information stands at community venues, 
and through our Annual Meeting. 

 
@healthwatchyork has now got 2,404 followers, 75 additional followers since 
our last report, continuing the steady increase. Over the 6 months from April to 

Page 23

https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/September.pdf
https://www.healthwatchyork.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/September.pdf


 
 

September we gained 53,600 twitter impressions, 127 link clicks,153 retweets 
and 211 likes. To give a flavour of our activity, our top tweets for each month 
were: 
 
April: Do you have #dementia? Do you #care for someone with #dementia? 
Do you want to have your say when it comes to the future of the #NHS? 
#NHSlongtermplan #haveyoursay (2,322 impressions) 
 
May: Tomorrow is Mental Health Awareness Event @ 30 Clarence Street! 
Come along and get some #Information a #cake and join in with some 
#Mindfulness! (2,179 impressions) 

  
 
June: Did you know there is a @SafePlacesUK smartphone app? This will help 
you find the nearest open Safe Place in York while you are out and about in 
York. To download the free to use Safe Places app for your phone visit the App 
Store or Google Play. (1,282 impressions) 
 
July: Would like to say a massive thank you and well done to our 2018/19 
Healthwatch York award winners! Give yourself a pat on the back! (1,400 
impressions) 

 
 
August: Come and see us at #Shambles #Market and get information and 
advice on the health and social care services in #York (2,617 impressions) 

Page 24

https://twitter.com/hashtag/dementia?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/care?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/dementia?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/NHS?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/NHSlongtermplan?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/haveyoursay?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/Information?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/cake?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/Mindfulness?src=hash
https://twitter.com/SafePlacesUK
https://twitter.com/hashtag/Shambles?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/Market?src=hash
https://twitter.com/hashtag/York?src=hash


 
 

 
 
September: We will be back at the Market Stall tomorrow! Come pop down and 
see us for advice or to tell us what you think to the health and social care 
services in York. Grab some food from the lovely food stalls while your there! 
@MakeItYork @LiveWellYork (2,660 impressions) 
 
Media work 
We appeared on Radio York as follows: 
 
Saturday 17 August – about our Awareness Survey 
Friday 6 September – about using the NHS App 
Thursday 19 September – to discuss NHS funding following “NHS has been 
destroyed” confrontation at Leytonstone Hospital 
 
We spoke to Minster FM as follows: 
Wednesday 18 September – about NHS dentistry 
 
We appeared in York Press as follows: 
Saturday 27 July – About our Making a Difference Awards 
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17797686.awards-honour-york-39-s-unsung-
health-heroes/  
Tuesday 20 August – About changes to repeat prescriptions in York 
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17846312.fears-patients-may-39-fall-gaps-
39-amid-york-prescription-shake-up/ 
Monday 16 September – About our concerns around urgent dental care and 
dentistry https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17902226.39-urgent-39-call-review-
nhs-dental-care-york/ 
Monday 16 September – About changes to repeat prescriptions in York 
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17902242.prescriptions-shake-up-causing-
39-massive-inconvenience-39-patients/ 
 
Logging issues 
We logged 190 issues. This includes some double counting where people 
provide feedback about two or three different organisations within one issue as 
feedback is logged against organisations. 

Page 25

https://twitter.com/MakeItYork
https://twitter.com/LiveWellYork
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17797686.awards-honour-york-39-s-unsung-health-heroes/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17797686.awards-honour-york-39-s-unsung-health-heroes/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17846312.fears-patients-may-39-fall-gaps-39-amid-york-prescription-shake-up/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17846312.fears-patients-may-39-fall-gaps-39-amid-york-prescription-shake-up/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17902226.39-urgent-39-call-review-nhs-dental-care-york/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17902226.39-urgent-39-call-review-nhs-dental-care-york/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17902242.prescriptions-shake-up-causing-39-massive-inconvenience-39-patients/
https://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/17902242.prescriptions-shake-up-causing-39-massive-inconvenience-39-patients/


 
 

 
 

 
 
 
April to October – Summary of Key Themes from Issue Log April to 
October 2019 
 
A prominent issue has been people’s ability to access GP services and 
appointments. This has been relatively consistent across the 6 month period.  
 
Access to dentistry and being unable to find a dentist in York has also been a 
recurring theme.  
 
Difficulties and concerns have been expressed around mental health support 
for children and adults and in getting access to crisis support. 
 
People have told us about major challenges they’ve experienced in relation to 
changes to services which have been put in place such as: changes to the 
warfarin clinic and changes to repeat prescription.   
 
Compliments to services have been in relation to helping individuals understand 
a condition or health query, services with health professionals who 
communicate well and promote understanding and services with clear routes of 
access which have been efficient and timely in supporting patients. 
 

 Complaint Compliment Concern Point of 
view 

Request 
for Info 

Grand 
Total 

Ambulance 1 1 2   4 

CCG 13 2 17 8 1 41 

Dental 2 3 2 1  8 

GP 18 8 7 1 1 35 

Hospital 10 8 5 4  27 

Mental health 7 2 5  2 16 

NHSE 3  3 1 3 10 

Optician  1    1 

Other 4 20 1  2 27 

Pharmacy 1 2 1   4 

Social care 5 4 2  2 13 

Transport 1  1   2 

(blank) 1 1    2 

Grand Total 66 52 46 15 11 190 

Page 26



 
 

Signposting and advice 
We continue to record signposting activity through the issues log where this is 
received in the office via phone calls or emails.  
 
We keep a full log of all signposting contact through community activities and 
events, much of which is through our Community Champion volunteers. We 
provided opportunities for people to access information, advice and signposting 
support at 82 different events between 1 April 2019 and 30 September 2019, 
attended by over 3,000 people.  
 
We signpost to a large number of health and social care organisations and 
services in York, including the “Big 6” (Dementia Forward, First Call 50+, Family 
Information Service, York CAB, York Carers Centre, York Mind). We also share 
information from and about York Advocacy, particularly their NHS Complaints 
Advocacy service. Through our engagement work, we have given out 425 
magazines, 285 mental health guides, 56 dementia guides, and 314 leaflets to 
members of the public at events during our conversations with them, as well as 
hearing 41 experiences about health or social care services. 
 
Future Developments 
We will publish our report looking at people’s experiences of accessing support 
with sight loss in Autumn 2019, and present it to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board in December 2019. 
 
Through the Multiple Complex Needs network, we are exploring how we can 
help improve the experiences of those with multiple complex needs. Although 
the initial phase was about building relationships and identifying shared 
priorities, the focus is now shifting to how we work together to address these 
priorities. We expect a number of projects will start over the coming months, 
aiming to deliver tangible improvements.  
 
We are offering our support to the Safeguarding Adults Board in terms of 
hosting useful personal safety advice, and adding regular updates on 
safeguarding within our popular magazine. 
 
We will review our Market Stall pilot and consider plans for future 
developments.  
 
We want to work closely with council colleagues to raise awareness of the 
benefits to all in following the shared approach we have taken to engaging with 
care home residents through the Care Home Assessor programme. Through 
discussions with fellow LHW, it is clear this programme is both well-developed 
and a clear demonstration of the benefits of partnership working, but there is 

Page 27



 
 

little awareness amongst the wider population that this work is being done, or 
how it supports quality improvement in local care homes.  
 
We have begun discussions with York Hospital, through their new Equality and 
Diversity Lead about improving reporting on action taken, both as a result of our 
reports and from issues we record. This should lead to us having a greater 
understanding of the impact of our work.  
 
We have invited Jo Holloway-Green from York Advocacy to join our Leadership 
Group, in order to improve information sharing. We have already identified 
shared concerns around support for Deaf people when trying to access health 
and care services, which Healthwatch York previously looked at in 2013/14. We 
have begun conversations about how we might tackle this together, with 
support from the council and the hospital.  

 
Barriers 
Our contract comes to an end in March 2020. There is an option to extend the 
contract for a further 2 years. We hope the contract situation can be clarified at 
the earliest possible stage, to make sure we can continue our day to day 
delivery with the minimum disruption. 
 
We need to identify future funding for the production of our Mental Health and 
Dementia guides. Whilst we want to continue to provide these, as we have 
received very positive feedback about their value, we need to be realistic about 
how far our core budget can stretch. In the past, we have received additional 
funding from TEWV and Ways to Wellbeing to produce the Mental Health guide, 
and from Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Ways to Wellbeing for the 
Dementia guide. These guides are now over 18 months old, and funding their 
ongoing production is a recurring challenge.  
 
There is a need to consider how, when we are looking to gather feedback about 
service change, we can rely on the support of providers and commissioners to 
share opportunities to give feedback even where providers or commissioners 
perceive significant amounts of the feedback may be negative. Although we use 
local press, and share information widely through our own networks, to reach 
the most people we need all stakeholders to feel invested in supporting us to 
reach further.   
 
We have identified that we do not as yet have a good process for sharing 
information with GP practices, and flagging up any recommendations with them. 
We had assumed that the CCG would co-ordinate this as the joint 
commissioner of primary care services but appreciate that we have not 
discussed this, or worked together to develop a solution. This issue needs 
addressing, and the solution could potentially link in with work around the new 

Page 28



 
 

Primary Care Networks. We have agreed with the Head of Engagement at the 
CCG to feed this into our ongoing conversations around improving 
engagement.  

 

SECTION 2: Staff training and development /  Healthwatch Volunteers 

Details of all training courses undertaken in the last six months: 

Course title No’s Of Staff / 
volunteers Attended 

Refresher 
Yes            No 

 Virtual Dementia training 1S / 2V   

 Free to be me training 2S / 4V plus DAA 
members 

  

 Safeguarding training 2S   

 Level 3 Education and Training 

(formerly PTLLS) 

2S started September   

 PLACE training York Hospital 
 

1S/ 1V   

 PLACE training delivered by 
HWY  

4V   

 Care Home Assessor training 
meeting 

9V   

 How to Navigate CRM Webinar 
by HWE 

2S   

 Volunteer Induction 11/4 - 1V, 5/8 – 1V   

 A brief update on the roles / achievements of staff and Healthwatch Board 

members during the last quarter. 

Siân Balsom, Manager, returned to work 3 days a week from 1 April 2019. She 
represents Healthwatch York at a number of key meetings including the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, and York Mental Health Partnership. During this period 
she has also begun attending the YorOK Board, and York Human Rights City 
Steering Group.  
 
Emily Abbott was successful within the restructuring process in becoming the 
team’s Deputy Manager. Emily is leading on the development of our 
Safeguarding Stories project, being developed with Kyra Ayre. She also 
manages the information, advice and signposting function within Healthwatch 
York, and leads on our publications. Emily manages the community market stall 
project. She also deputises for the Manager as needed, and attends a number 
of strategic board meetings including the Ageing Well Partnership and the 
Safeguarding Adults Board.  

Page 29



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Helen Patching, Project Support Officer, provides administrative support for 
Healthwatch York, including coordination of all internal and external Healthwatch 
York meetings. She leads the Readability programme, and leads on all our lay 
visiting programmes – the care home assessor programme and PLACE visitors 
programme. Helen has also played a significant role in the coordination and 
creation of our quarterly magazines, coordinates all staff and volunteer training 
and delivers some of our training. 
  
Abbie Myers was successful in retaining our Engagement role, and continues to 
lead our Engagement work, developing new partnerships and identifying 
opportunities to reach new audiences. For example she has created 
relationships with the Pay As You Feel Cafes across York engaging with people 
that we wouldn’t normally reach. She has been working with Liz around new 
ways to engage young people, which has resulted in Abbie And Liz going all 
over York visiting various youth groups with our ‘Listening Board’, the aim of this 
piece of work is to get the voice of Children and Young People in York heard.  
 
Liz (Elizabeth) Belsey joined the team on 15 April 2019 as our Research Officer. 
She has completed reports begun before she joined the team, and led the work 
around the NHS Long Term Plan engagement. She also developed and led the 
work around the Eye Clinic Liaison Officer role. She and Abbie have also been 
working together to engage with young people as above.  
 
Catherine Scott, formerly the Interim Manager, has stayed with the team as 
Systems Change Lead, due to the kind support of Lankelly Chase, working to 
support the Multiple Complex Needs network and activities to support Systems 
Change.  
 
John Clark, our Chair, has continued to chair our Leadership Group meetings, 
creating a helpful and supportive environment within which to discuss the 
challenges of delivering a successful Healthwatch. He is also a substitute on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. He chairs our Assembly meetings, making sure 
volunteers, partners and key stakeholders have opportunity to debate key issues 
in health and social care, and raise matters of concern or interest. He has 
continued to support the staff team following the challenges of last year. 
 

Page 30



 
 

Staff Support 

How often are staff 
meetings held? 

We continue to hold monthly team meetings, to plan and 
co-ordinate our work. We regularly attend York CVS 
weekly catch up meetings.  

How often do staff 
receive supervision 
from a senior? 

At least every 6-8 weeks. 

How often are staff 
formally appraised? 

Staff are formally appraised annually.   

Number of staff 
appraised in last 
period: 

0 
 

Complaints/Commendations about Healthwatch York 

How many informal complaints have been received? 0 

How many formal complaints have been received? 0 

 

SECTION 3: Additional Comments 

Please list any additional details/comments/recommendations that you wish to 
make. 
 

 
 
 
 
Draft finances (April 2019 – September 2019) 
 

  Budget Actual Variance 

Explanation of over 

spend 

Staff Costs (Salaries 

& Expenses) 

£41,700 £39,471 £2,229 n/a 

Volunteer Expenses £1,564 £1,550 £14 n/a 

Training and 

recruitment 

0 0   

Local Administration £11,704 £11,686 £18 n/a 

Other £12,001 

 

£12,310 -£309 Slightly higher spend 

on evaluation this year 

as developed a new 

process. 

Total Expenditure £66,969 £65,017 £1,952  

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Scrutiny Committee 

 

21 January 2020 

 

York Multiple Complex Needs Network Update Report 

 

Introduction 

 

The York Multiple Complex Needs (MCN) network has been meeting for 

just over a year and a half, bringing together people with lived 

experience, frontline workers and strategic leads to think collectively 

about how we can work better together to support people with complex 

needs. Based on national statistics and demand data from service 

organisations in York in 2018, we estimate there are just under 400 

individuals living with complex and multiple needs in York, costing £11.7 

million per annum.  

 

1   190 individuals currently receiving discrete MCN support (AOT, Pathways, MEAM) + 200 individuals  

    estimated through Local Area Coordination needs analysis, extrapolated from 3 wards to all 21 combined  

    390 tallies with Hard Edges (2014) research which estimated 300-600 for City of York.  

 
2   conservative estimate based on national research inc: £17,000-£45,000 (Fulfilling Lives), £19,000 (Hard   

    Edges 2014, stated as an underestimate), £36,696-£43,500 (national MEAM network) and £69,000 local  

    case study (Housing) 

Page 33 Agenda Item 5



The services and supports tackling this issue are at present fragmented 

and uncoordinated, with the York MCN network providing the main focal 

point for action.   

 

The first network meeting took place in March 2018, and over the past 

20 months, there have been 9 network meetings. As with any network, 

attendance has fluctuated, and people from different organisations and 

projects have joined us along the way as word has spread about our 

work.  

 

We have been feeling our way as a network and have been working 

through some questions: 

 

1. What is our purpose? 

2. What can we do together?  

3. Who are we talking about when we say ‘multiple complex needs’?  

4. Who else is doing this kind of work and what can we learn from 

them?  

5. How can we work with people with lived experience?   

6. What do we know about our system - what is working and what 

can be improved? 

 

In December 2018, a proposal was developed to support the network for 

a year to December 2019. This included: 

 

 Supporting the York MCN network to bring people together with 

lived experience, frontline workers and strategic leaders to share 

experiences, learning and build trusting relationships that lead to 

more collaborative actions. 

  

 Supporting a Core Team made up of Changing Lives, Healthwatch 

York, The Lankelly Chase Foundation, and supported by Paul 

Connery, to coordinate and hold the network and associated work. 

This includes building and deepening collaborative skills and 

capacities across the systems in which network members operate, 

by synthesising, bridging and connecting different organisations, 

initiatives, projects and strategic boards concerned about this 

Page 34



agenda. 

 

 Running a Systems Changers programme for people across the 

system to give them tools to act systemically in their roles, and 

help them understand and experiment with different ways of 

working. 

 

 Supporting ongoing learning that taps into the power of collective 

intelligence, bringing together data, information and personal 

stories to drive learning and adaptation. 

  

 Working with Northumbria University as our learning partners to 

develop a structure for learning, evaluation and development. 

 

Our event on 20th November 2019, Multiple and Complex Needs: 

Imagining a Healthy System in York, was a celebration of all that we 

have achieved together. For this event, we produced a newspaper: 

Network News (Appendix 1), to bring information and reflections about 

much of the work. It includes summarised findings from: 

 

- York Systems Changers Programme 2019 (page 3 Appendix 1) 

 

- Non-commissioned services and community groups’ engagement 

work led by Social Vision (page 4. Full report: Appendix 3) 

 

- Peer research project conducted by CERT (page 5. Full report: 

Appendix 2) 

 

- Network member interviews from 2018 (page 6) 

 

- Statutory sector and commissioned services survey (page 6) 

 

- Observations and insights from network meetings (page 7) 

 

You can watch the video projected by Social Vision here: 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QYRFXaK-WO0. 

 

Page 35

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QYRFXaK-WO0


You can see a recording of the theatre performance based on the peer 

research project findings and more information about the event on 20th 

November at www.yorkmcn.org/live-blog. 

 

Going forwards 

 

Current funding for the ongoing coordination of the network and 

surrounding programme of work is being reviewed at the end of 

December 2019. Therefore, on 4th December 2019 the York MCN 

network met to decide what next for the network.  

 

What has been proposed by the Core Team is that in 2020, the following 

will happen: 

 

- Another Systems Changers Programme 

  

- Continued support for the lived experience group 

 

Additionally, a number of ideas for experiments have emerged out of the 

York MCN network over the past 18 months. At the network meeting on 

4th December, the network decided to develop the following ideas into 

experiments, and take these forwards in working groups: 

 

- Cross sector hubs: bringing together the different ideas for a ‘Hub’ 

for people living with complex needs across the city to ensure 

complimentary working practices. 

 

- ‘Doing with’ - making sure every development is co-produced with 

people with lived experience to explore issues that matter to them, 

gathering voices & views and feeding this into the system. 

 

- Exploring how we use creative arts and engage with the creative 

industry 

 

- A new co-commissioning group: bringing together commissioners 

and partners to design a system based on need, with people with 

lived experience group as an equal partner in that team.  

Page 36

http://www.yorkmcn.org/live-blog


Developing a vision owned by city partners, joining up language 

and exploring how to align purchasing and resources. 

  

- Undertaking a cultural values survey for the multiple and complex 

needs system in York, looking at people’s personal values and 

what motivates us, understanding the current cultural climate 

including what is and isn’t working, and ascertaining the desired 

culture that those in the system would like to work in. 

  

- Developing Terms of Reference for the team coordinating and 

facilitating this work and invite others to be part of that process. 

 

Network members went into working groups to develop these ideas 

further and will put proposals forward to The Lankelly Chase Foundation 

to support the above work, including funding the team to continue to 

facilitate and coordinate the network and surrounding work. Some ideas 

that were voted for but didn’t get enough people to work on them will be 

shared widely to see if others in the network want to take them forwards. 

Northumbria University have agreed to provide continued support as 

learning partners to the network, providing us with support for 

development and evaluation. 

 

In order for this work to be successful, it needs 

 

- Long term city-wide commitment 

 

- Strategic participation from all areas 

 

- Permission from senior leaders for their staff members to take 

space and time to contribute and work on this agenda 

 

Recommendations 

 

Members are asked to: 

 

- Support an inclusive and collaborative environment that is needed 

to address complex challenges, noting that this process is 

Page 37



experimental and some ideas may not offer immediate solutions 

  

- Recognise that the experimental way of working includes 

professionals from across the sector, in agencies that have not 

necessarily worked together in the past.  

 

- Support the work of York MCN, for example with named 

champions with interest and long term commitment to this area of 

work 

  

- Be aware that the network is influencing other things that will be 

coming to Scrutiny 

 

- Support actions to take forward the work of York MCN in ways that 

have a positive impact for the people it is intending to help. 

 

 

Catherine Scott 

Systems Change Lead 

Healthwatch York 

 

Page 38



Wednesday 20 November 2019 1Network News

Network News

The time is now!

Wednesday 20 November 2019

So what is this network we have created? 
Catherine Scott explains the genesis, 
aims and progress
Early in 2018, discussions began about how organisations 
and services could work better together in York to support 
people with complex needs. A seed of an idea emerged that 
involved creating a “network” which would bring together 
all of us supporting people with complex needs in the same 
room, to learn, challenge and achieve change. 

This idea turned into an initial proposal following 
conversations between Changing Lives, York Pathways and 
Healthwatch York. We shared a vision that any future work 
will have both an operational and strategic remit. It would 
provide challenge “down” into individual services to drive 
improvement and more joined-up working but also offer 
challenge “up” to effect system-wide change.

Going forward, it was said that the proposed network should 
grow to incorporate the “right” people, at the “right time.” 
Also, the hope was that the network would be co-designed 
and delivered by people wishing to participate in it.

The first York Multiple Complex Needs (MCN) network 
meeting happened in March 2018, with an initial invite list 
of Changing Lives (Drug & Alcohol) – Andy Ryan and 
Leigh Bell; Changing Lives (Housing) – Kelly Cunningham 
and Chris Weeks; Healthwatch York – Sian Balsom; Local 
Area Coordination – Jennie Cox and Joe Micheli; North 
Yorkshire Police (and specifically Street Triage Team) 
– Emily Trayhorn and Lisa Winward; York Pathways – 
Gemma Sanchez and Jenni Newberry; Social Prescribing 
service – Jasmine Howard and Sarah Armstrong; TEWV 
(and specifically Assertive Outreach Team) – Becky West 
and Steve Wright. 

In December 2018, a proposal was co-produced between 
the partners and Lankelly Chase to support the network for 
a year to December 2019. This included:

•  Supporting the York MCN network to bring people 
together with lived experience, frontline workers and 
strategic leaders to share experiences, learning and build 
trusting relationships that lead to more collaborative 
actions. 

•  Supporting a Core Team made up of Changing Lives, 
Healthwatch York, Lankelly Chase and supported by 
Paul Connery, to coordinate and hold the network and 

associated work. This includes building and deepening 
collaborative skills and capacities across the systems, 
by synthesising, bridging and connecting different 
organisations, initiatives, projects and strategic boards 
concerned about this agenda.

•  Running a Systems Changers programme for people 
across the system to give them tools to act systemically 
in their roles, and help them understand and experiment 
with different ways of working.

•  Supporting ongoing learning that taps into the power 
of collective intelligence, bringing together data, 
information and stories to drive learning and adaptation. 

Over the past 20 months, there have been 9 network 
meetings. As with any network, attendance has fluctuated, 

and as we hoped, people from different organisations and 
projects have joined us along the way as word has spread 
about what we are doing. 

Our event on 20th November 2019, Multiple and 
Complex Needs: Imagining a Healthy System in York, is 
a celebration and recognition of all that we have achieved 
together.

This newspaper reflects just a tiny part of the work that 
has been happening across York as we move intentionally 
towards collective action. Crucially, it includes people’s 
stories from all parts of York’s MCN system.  

As one network member reflected, “the place is here and 
the time is now.” So then, let’s read, listen, understand, and 
see what we can achieve!

Systems 
Changers – 
page three

Peer 
research – 
pages four 
and five

Learning 
from the 
work – 
pages six 
and seven

‘The insight I have experienced has been invaluable’

Having been involved whilst originally living in a homeless hostel 
and dealing with my addiction to alcohol it has been a pleasure to 
work with professional colleagues in looking at ways to improve the 
delivery of services to vulnerable people and those with multiple 
complex needs.

The insight I have experienced in the complex nature of supporting 
those people has been invaluable.

Also I have picked up valuable training which I can share in the 
volunteering work I currently undertake.

My own experiences and those of my fellow peers in our journeys 
has been shared amongst the workings to help frame some of those 
important changes needed.

It has been a journey I shall never forget.

Miles is using the knowledge gained from lived experience to help vulnerable people across York

Page 39



2 Network News Wednesday 20 November 2019

Timeline
The long and winding road to 
York’s Multiple Complex Needs 
network…

2015 York MEAM project began operational 
delivery
2015 Pathways project funded by Lankelly 
Chase 
August 2017 Kelly Cunningham/Lankelly 
Chase (Neil Berry) began discussions on 
overlap and confusion in York around 
multiple disadvantage
September 2017 Lankelly Chase 
commissioned workshops for frontline and 
managers to look at system change thinking
September 2017 Co-inquiry hosted by 
Revolving doors looking at wider system 
change 
Dec-March 2017 Met with relevant 
commissioners/senior managers to get 
support and map interest of current 
interventions/contracted work
November 2017 Mapping of services and 
flow of demand
Feb 2018 brought Healthwatch York into the 
conversations
Feb 2018 agreed to form a network 
21st March 2018 First MCN network event 
(initial discussions/enquiry/curiosity)
16th May 2018 MCN network meeting 
(subgroup meetings in between)
9th July 2018 MCN network meeting 
(subgroup meetings in between)
17th Sept 2018 MCN network meeting
4th Dec 2018 MCN network meeting/deep 
democracy workshop
-  Network members agreed to continued 

commitment and representation, plan 
for 2019 is to begin systematic enquiry 
bi- monthly MCN meetings and system 
changers training programme to be 
launched.

- Network has core attendance of 15-25
Jan 2019 Lankelly Chase confirmed budget 
to support the work in York and additional 
funding for the system changers training
Currently looking at additional funding 
support from CCG Better Care Fund
19th February 2019 MCN network meeting 
3rd April 2019 MCN network meeting 
18th June 2019 MCN network meeting
July 2019 Members of York MCN network 
visit Trieste
July 2019 Kelly Cunningham delivered 
a York MCN network presentation at 
Healthwatch York annual meeting
18th September 2019 MCN network 
meeting
10th October 2019 “Funding, 
Commissioning and Managing in 
Complexity: A workshop with Toby Lowe 
and Max French, Newcastle Business 
School” with leaders and commissioners
24th October 2019 MCN network meeting 
– Guest speakers from Exeter CoLab and 
Gateshead Council
20th November 2019 Multiple and Complex 
Needs: Imagining a Health System in York 
event

Page 40



Wednesday 20 November 2019 3Network News

Systems Changers

The York Systems Changers 2019 programme has brought 
together a group of people operating in the systems that 
support people experiencing multiple needs across York. 
Coming together for two days a month over the last six 
months we’ve covered a variety of things. 

This has included systems thinking theory, tools and 
approaches to help people see the system differently. We 
have also looked at deep democracy tools, personal power 
and reflective practices to support participants to act on 
what they are now seeing as a result of the theory, tools and 
approaches they have learnt about. 

We have used prototyping and experimentation tools, 
with the group designing small scale experiments to test 
out new approaches in areas in the system they want to 
change. 

The strength of the York Systems Changers 2019 group has 
developed significantly over the course of the programme. 

They are supportive of each other, are working more 
collaboratively in their day-to-day work outside of the 
sessions, and are able to have more honest and challenging 
conversations with each other. 

Although the programme is coming to an end in 
November, in some ways we are just getting started. We 
aim to continue to support the group in taking what they 
have learnt and applying it across York. 

We are also looking at running the programme again 
in 2020, building on what we have learnt this year, and 
will look for ways to support the current group to work 
alongside the next group as they develop into Systems 
Changers.

‘In some ways we are just getting started’
The first York Systems Changers group has changed and 

evolved over six intense months. Facilitator Paul Connery 
reflects on the story so far

What the Systems Changers said
“Working alongside Lankelly Chase and colleagues from various other 
services in the city has proved extremely interesting and insightful. It 
has provided me with a much greater understanding of ‘the system’, 
its benefits and its failures and great examples of where innovation, 
sometimes through pressing need, has made a significant, positive 
difference to delivery of services and to the lives of individuals and 
communities.”

“Whilst I can see the advantages of wholesale system change in certain under-
funded and complex fields I’ve gained an understanding of what knowledge 
and ideas others can bring and how minor changes, adjustments to processes 
and protocols and relationships can make a big difference.”

“Showing that something works or doesn’t work at prototype stage can 
save a lot of time, effort and money, duplication of effort and allows me 
to focus on the most effective initiatives”

“The learning process and tools such as prototyping/dark matter/timelines/
deep democracy/system change perspectives, have been essential during 
group activities/research to engineer productive discussion helping to 
framework future changes.”

“I can’t believe how much I’ve picked up. The group took understandable 
time to gel yet I feel part of that family now and hope to engage in future 
developments to improve/inspire people’s ‘lived experience’ of what York 
residents truly deserve.”

“Causal loops was a useful tool learnt from Pauline’s System Thinking, 
which I found really valuable to conversations about seeing the system 
and ultimately contributing to conversations about change. 

“I have since facilitated a workshop around challenging negative labelling 
in the system and presented causal loop diagrams as a way to help 
services, practitioners and people we are walking alongside see how 
these patterns of behaviour become stuck and how we can break these 
negative cycles.”

Deep democracy in the York Medical 
Society garden with the 2019 Systems 
Changers

Deep democracy in the York Medical 
Society garden with the Systems 
Changers

Page 41



4 Network News Wednesday 20 November 2019

Community group engagement

On Wednesday 9th October, Social Vision’s Social 
Sofa took over an abandoned warehouse in York to ask 
local practitioners working in the multiple and complex 
disadvantage sector two simple questions: why are people 
homeless, and how would you change that.

Over 30 people attended the event, which was set against 
a backdrop of artwork created by people with lived 
experience. We asked delegates to rip up the rule book, 
forget about politics, money or systems. There was a real 
appetite to explore these questions, and also to network 
with other practitioners. Despite its small size and village 
feel, many professionals in York feel fragmented from 
other services.

Common themes running throughout the night were:

•  An overwhelming view that housing is too expensive, 
making the likelihood of homelessness higher

•  Low paid jobs and lower disposable income, meaning 
more in work poverty

•  Complete failure, and a lack, of mental health services 
to diagnose and treat people from a young age

•  A fragmented services sector which proves challenging 
to navigate for people experiencing multiple and 
complex disadvantage

•  And as ever, a lack of funding and resources. With a 
feeling that resources are available but are diverted to 
other services

The highlight of the night for me personally was a 
gentleman with lived experience who I spoke to privately. 
I asked him the question - what would make a difference? 
In his opinion, a waterproof guide to surviving the streets 
would have made a massive difference to him. Featuring 
a map, services and contact numbers. Later I spoke to 
another delegate about this idea, who offered to sponsor 
it. 

We got a real, tangible outcome from the event, and will 
work with the York MCN network to implement it.

We look forward to showing the full video at the event on 
20th November.

Joe Gardham 
Director, Social Vision

Sitting on the Social Vision sofa

Page 42



Wednesday 20 November 2019 5Network News

Peer research

Seeking stories from the system
Converge Evaluation and Research 
Team (CERT) were commissed by York 
MCN network to conduct a peer research 
project, to seek the voices and stories of 
people who face multiple disadvantage 
in York. Using in-depth and short ‘on 
the street’ interviews, we identified the 
following priorities of people with lived 
experience of multiple needs:

-  Access to good and timely mental 
health support

-  A good, long term relationship with 
one worker

- Finding a safe place to recover

- Good quality aftercare

-  Reducing stigma and ensuring 
respect

-  A quicker response and shorter 
waiting times

Various improvements were suggested 
by the people with lived experience of 
multiple needs that we interviewed, 
including:

- The creation of a one-stop hub

-  Practical suggestions for how 
people’s basic needs could be met 

- How the service could be 
redesigned

CERT also made recommendations, 
including:

- Mental health training

- Facilitating long-term relationships

- Human rights issues

-  Conducting further research to hear 
the voices of people with lived 
experience of multiple needs which 
we did not reach in this project.

Reflections from the network

York Drug and Alcohol Services – 
working in a different way
In July 2019 the York Drug and 
Alcohol services commenced 
delivering from a new model, the 
design process was committed to the 
concept of co-production: that the 
design and evolution of services can 
and should involve the experience 
of frontline staff, people who use 
the services, stakeholders, and 
commissioners. 

The process of engaging with 
all of the above to re-design the 
service and pathways was over 
a period of 18 months, as well 
as the feedback from all relevant 
parties the relationship between 
the commissioner and our service, 
ensuring good communication, joint 
working and trust was integral to the 

development of this new model.  

What we started with in July and 
where we are now is continually 
changing through evaluation with 
staff, service users, partner agencies 
and commissioners. 

To continue to develop and improve 
it is imperative that there is an 
understanding that we are in an ever 
evolving process. 

That way we can ensure that we 
continue to develop a service that 
remains fluid due to the complexities 
of those accessing it and to keep a 
good open dialogue with all this 
involved to ensure there are arenas 
to share good practice. 

Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) was launched in 2015 in York led by Arc Light (now Changing Lives) 
The MEAM approach helps areas design and deliver better co-ordinated services for people experiencing 
multiple disadvantage. 

To launch this new approach, performance poet Matt Abbott (pictured right) met with a couple of individuals 
to hear their stories and produced I Matter. I hope this poem highlights the exact reasons why we are hosting 
this event today. A healthy system, just imagine!

I Matter.

Now you see ’em. Now you don’t

So a suit wearing stranger slips in the street. What do you do. Check there alright, check there is 
anything you can do to help. You offer to call an ambulance. Offer to buy them a bottle of water. 
Do everything you can to reach the good deed feed. And then you carry on, see them off, feeling 
quietly smug inside. If the bus was on time all well and good, but on the same street someone 
is slumped in a doorway a thousand-yard stare, with a warm can of oranjeboom 8.5% with 
last week’s clothes and rather ironically sporting what you might call bed hair. And they might 
mumble or they might well have conviction. Or they ask you for less than you left in the tip jar at 
Costa, only this time you don’t stop or ask if they need any help or you know there is something 
you can do to help, fucking ignore them. Their fault. Their choice. But 50p costs a lot more than 
acknowledgement of a fellow human being. Let me ask you something how many times have you 
seen a homeless person with a dog and instinctively felt sorry for the dog. And they say there is 
a system in place to help the homeless become human again for this inconvenient scourges on 
society. But if you take someone who sleeps in the doorway in the rain or in a barn covered in 
crawling rats or shits himself with no fresh clothes whose life is a never ending groundhog day 
walking the streets again and again with nothing to gain except the next meal or next drink or 
the next hit of filthy beautiful heroin and if they’re not behind bars they are imprisoned by the 
physiological trauma of reality. Christ alive do you really think that they would turn back if the 
system was anything like what is should be, if the system was in place to meet the needs of the 
people who need it more than you could even imagine. Because their lives are a parallel universe 
and the system may seem perfectly reasonable within your expectations keeping meetings at 2pm 
three weeks on Wednesday but this is a person who roams the streets 24/7 given up hope, given 
up trying and the system somehow has given up on them too and if the people who are in place 
to help have given up how the fuck do we expect these to even start. When should vulnerability 
ever meet blindly with distain on this jolly game of snakes and ladders 9 months of sacrifice and 
compliance one tiny blip and its back to the start again.

Why bother.

Some will fail. But for once let them enter a room as equal and enjoy those simply words that 
everybody craves.

I matter.

How a poem informs the York MEAM approach

CERT talked to many people for this project. But what’s it like 
being an interviewee? Here are the reflections of one participant

“It’s not always easy being interviewed because there’s lot of anxiety attached to it,  
especially when you don’t know the people that are interviewing you. I find it hard talking to  
people at the best of times but particularly when the subject matter is so delicate and so complex.

“It does get easier the more you talk about certain times in your life when things were very tough but 
at the same time you don’t ever truly switch off completely from the trauma attached to those times.”

Page 43



6 Network News Wednesday 20 November 2019

Learning
The York Multiple and Complex Needs network: a view from 2018
by Max French, Lankelly Chase Learning Partner, 
Northumbria University 

Last year, we interviewed key members of the network about 
their experiences with complex and multiple needs and how 
they thought the network should evolve. We used the 9 System 
Behaviours developed by Lankelly Chase to prompt people to talk 
about their understanding of how well York supports people living 
with complex needs, and again about how well the network was 
doing. 

People gave a rating of each system behaviour on a scale of 0-10, 
and then were asked to explain the reasoning behind them. In every 
case, the York’s network was rated higher than York the place. In 
particular, indicators of ‘power’ were rated lowest in York. People 
often noted how disempowered they were in their professional 
ability to tackle complex needs adequately. Others spoke about 
powerful organisations and institutions which did not want to 
engage with others or change themselves. 

Power was the area where most people felt the network had 
made the biggest difference. The network created an engaging, 
democratic space for deliberation. 

Others noted high scores for power masked the absence of 
dissenting, critical voices: ‘Is it because the right people are not 
in the room? If these were included the scores would be lower.’ 

Particularly, the larger statutory organisations were not engaging.

Nevertheless, people commented that the network connected them 
to people and agencies they had not previously been connected 
with, which combatted a sense of isolation for some: ‘It’s been 
encouraging to see you are not alone’. 

The network had led to a greater sense of interconnectedness, 
however people did not have truly shared vision, or a clear idea 
of how to work together. Some wanted clarity: ‘[why don’t we] 
design a mission statement, develop a 12 month plan’, demanding 
that the network facilitators take a lead. Others cautioned about 
moving too fast, alienating others and neglecting to co-create a 
shared vision. 

The network had engaged service providers, but not with lived 
experience. What legitimacy would there be in a plan without that 
perspective? Most attended the network for what they hoped could 
happen, rather than what it could immediately offer. Notably, 
people told stories of sacrificing their time and fighting within 
their organisations for energy to be devoted to the network. 

People committed to attend for the long haul despite, in some 
instances, extracting relatively little in the short term. The level 
of commitment which people offered felt quite a rare thing, and 
made me hopeful.

Survey, October 2019

Network membership/reach

The majority of the 52 respondents were from the statutory or public sector (58%). 40% 
were from the voluntary and community sector. 

Definition of ‘multiple complex needs’

The variety of responses to the question about people’s own working definition of ‘multiple 
complex needs’ shows the complexity of defining this in York. The most common themes in 
people’s answers were:

1. People who are facing multiple issues/needs/problems

2. The issues/needs/problems require input from multiple agencies or services

3. For those facing the issues/needs/problems, accessing the services they need can 
be problematic due to exclusion, service eligibility criteria, gaps between services, and 
services’ approach

Views of the system from statutory sector and commissioned services employees
The current situation in York

The majority of people were positive about what their organisation was doing to tackle 
multiple complex needs, with 44% referring to positive delivery approaches and projects, 
such as MEAM, Housing First, and services being person-centred and holistic. 

However, the most popular words to describe the current situation in York for people facing 
multiple complex needs were: 

When asked what one thing people would change about York’s multiple 
complex needs system, the most popular themes were:

Behaviours identified by Lankelly Chase 
that help systems function better for people 
facing severe and multiple disadvantage:

PERSPECTIVE

1.  People view themselves as part of an 
interconnected whole

2.  People are viewed as resourceful and 
bringing strengths

3. People share a vision

POWER

4.  Power is shared, and equality of voice 
actively promoted

5. Decision-making is devolved

6. Accountability is mutual

PARTICIPATION

7.  Open, trusting relationships enable 
effective dialogue

8.  Leadership is collaborative and 
promoted at every level

9.  Feedback and collective learning drive 
adaptation

What has already been done/is currently being done in York’s multiple 
complex needs system that is making things better?

What is making York’s multiple complex needs system worse?

Page 44



Wednesday 20 November 2019 7Network News

March 2018

Observations of our current situation 

•  Different definitions/criteria across the 
system cause problems

•  Professionals in the system don’t know 
what’s out there – the system doesn’t 
know itself

•  People with lived experience (PWL) – 
voice is not loud/influential enough in 
the system

•  Pressure on services – lots of meetings 
which all add to pressure to be co-
ordinated

Where we would like to get to  

• Want to work better together

•  Want collective voice of the system to 
be heard by the “right” people/strategic 
voice

•  Want the involvement of PWL, and 
don’t want this to just be tokenistic

Insights

We noticed that:

•  Not sure we know what involving PWL 
in a genuine way looks like

•  If we genuinely mean to involve people, 
we need to accept what they say even if 
we don’t agree

•  We all know something is wrong in 
the system, and can point to lots of 
symptoms, but we don’t nail what that is

•  Only focus on services – not talking 
about community/rest of society

Tensions:

• Space to reflect vs Action

• Complexity of problem 

May 2018

Observations of our current situation 

•  Do we know who we’re talking about? 
Many people are off the radar.

•  The system is complex, not the people. 
Creating labels and boxes creates more 
complexity

• Services set up for people with mcn are 
taking the demand. The wider system is not 
doing anything to support this. 

Where we would like to get to  

•  Want network to be action focused, 
operational and strategic

•  Training + support on how to do things 
differently

•  Appreciate space to reflect on why/how 
we fail people. 

Insights

Tensions:

• Who takes responsibility?

•  Key actors – what’s their responsibility? 
Are the right people in the room? How 
do you influence them?

July 2018

Observations of our current situation 

• What are the boundaries of the system?

•  Who are we talking about: numbers, 
costings, spending etc. in York?

•  Need for connection across the wider 
system 

• Churn in the system – failure demand

• Lots of meetings and operational groups

•  Debate about whether lived experience 
group should be part of the network or 
separate from it

•  Importance of remembering women + 
children 

Where we would like to get to  

•  Understand what works well/evaluate 
what’s going on in wider system

Insights

•  Hidden – people facing mcn; number of 
meetings; individuals in system who are 
not part of network 

• ‘Othering’ the responsibility

September 2018

Observations of our current situation 

• Police invested in and understand issue

• Lack of priority of mcn within CCG

•  Network disconnected from operational 
staff 

•  Agreement to go ahead with Lankelly 
Chase Foundation support and funding

•  Low level buy-in of Systems Changers 
programme. People felt it would be 
useful, but no commitment

•  Need for tangible/measurable aims for 
network work

•  Repetition of meetings within system 
due to lack of joined-up working

Where we would like to get to  

• Flexibility/joined up services 

• Understanding of the system

•  Services to be tweaked based on lived 
experience

•  Help people to control their own lives 
rather than services doing ‘to’ them – 
doing with rather than to

Insights

•  Tension: Where the network sits within 
current working structure VS working 
outside/beyond these structures

December 2018

Observations of our current situation 

•  Frustration with lack of development in 
the network

•  Agreement to work together going 
forwards around proposal from Lankelly 
Chase, and co-design the proposal and 
objectives

•  Recognition that wider cultural change 
is needed

•  Need tangible evidence to convince 
managers that it’s worth investing in

Where we would like to get to  

•  Use network to share positive work in 
York

• Need practical/tangible things

Insights

•  There are different barriers individuals 
within the network experience because 
they are from different organisations

•  Mental health is a big issue – TEWV, 
VoYCCG, York Hospital and Primary 
Care are not ‘present’

•  Tension: Gaining understanding/
experimenting VS tangible/evidenced 
outcomes

February 2019

Workshop: Systems Thinking Mindset 
and Introduction to Systemic Inquiry, 
facilitated by Pauline Roberts

Observations of our current situation 

•  Stakeholders compete for power and get 
into a cycle of competition

•  Professional identity can get ‘lost’ in 
complex systems that are changing

• Use of ‘fixes that fail’ in the system

•  People recognise a number of influences 
on the situation i.e. rules, politics, legal- 
awareness of the multiple influences

• There is top down hierarchical control

•  In York, the overall system has not yet 
moved to a more networked way of 
being. Organisations may be fighting 
for their own positions and have not 
yet moved into a place where they 
collaborate effectively

•  Whilst there may be ongoing, persistent 
issues, they are not currently perceived 
as terminal.

•  Recognition of the pressures that the 
system is under and how this is causing 
some element of an underlying ‘war 
within’.

•  Issues were not just functional (i.e. 
the way people do things) but were 
also structural (how the organisations 
involved in helping to build a 
community orientated, networked 
situation in York are structured and 
work together).

•  There is an issue of having the right 
people in the room

•  The voice of the people with lived 
experience was not seen in as explicit 
and loud as it could have been

•  Network members don’t know how their 
voice can be heard and used

The areas chosen by the network to look 
further into were:

• Modelling the system

• Barriers to honest conversations

• Flows of influence

• Right people in the room

• Professional identity

April 2019

Observations of our current situation 

•  Frustration with no momentum – 
nothing is changing. Confusion about 
purpose of network; not challenging 
system; PWL voice still missing

•  Inflexibility of services and lack of 
choice. Need for multi-agency response 
and shared responsibility

•  Signposting + information is very 
difficult for people experiencing 
difficulties

• Importance of peer networks for PWL

•  Meetings are positive when directed by 
PWL

•  Pressure on frontline staff – they need 
additional capacity to attend network

•  Recognition there is no right approach 
to solving the issues, and the benefits 
of drawing on knowledge of multiple 
approaches

Where we would like to get to  

• Improve access to services

•  Involve PWL in agenda and taking on 
actions they decide from the network

•  A map/better understanding of peer 
networks in York

•  People want to start on small things we 
can change – something little

•  Share information/services to navigate 
services 

Insights

Valuing PWL as people with strengths and 
something to offer – not just a problem to 
solve

PWL knew about peer support groups and 
valued them. Professionals didn’t. 

Tension: Services say they have the answer 
VS the contribution PWL can make

June 2019

Observations of our current situation 

•  Recognition some language and 
phraseology is not useful and can have 
negative effects. Language needs to be 
more inclusive.

• Power of people’s stories

• Stalemate between statutory services.

• Delays bounced between systems.

• Referral processes inflexible

•  High workload impacts what 
professionals are able to do

•  Communication about same person can 
be poor between services

•  There is a culture and power imbalance, 
both within and across organisation

•  Many mission statements mention 
person-centeredness – questions about 
whether organisations really following 
this/sticking to mission statements. 

Where we would like to get to  

•  Want flexibility built into the system so 
we don’t just rely on relationships and 
favours

•  Need to challenge senior strategic 
leaders

•  Want to use knowledge already held in 
the system more effectively

•  Need to challenge organisations to act in 
accordance with their mission statement

Insights

•  Still siloed working – people know their 
own organisations, but not necessarily 
other organisations

Tension:

•  Policy + protocol can be interpreted 
differently

• Black and white thinking VS flexible

October 2019

Observations/Insights

•  People in the network want to be 
unleashed and given space for creativity 

•  There is passion and energy in the 
network to do something collectively – 
we just need to decide what that is

Observations and Insights from Network Meetings

Page 45



8 Network News Wednesday 20 November 2019

For your notes

Flows of influenceFlows of influence

Following a Systems Thinking workshop facilitated by 
Pauline Roberts at the February 2019 network meeting, 
both ‘flows of influence’ and ‘right people in the room’ were 
chosen as areas the network wanted to look at further. They 
were merged together and taken forward into a ‘sub group’. 

In a system there are various things that have an influence 
on each other. For example: how much money you have will 
influence your buying decisions, how your manager manages 
you will influence the way you behave, if there is tension 
between two teams it will influence how the interaction 
happens between those teams. 

We can identify what those influences are (they might 
be managerial influences, financial influences, political 
influences etc.) and look at who or what is influenced by 
these things. If we map this we can identify a chain of 
things that are influenced by the same thing - this is called 
identifying the ‘flow of influence’.

In this context, by ‘flows of influence’, we mean the way that 
power and influence operate within a system/network/structure. 
Understanding how this works within a system can help people 
see how they may be able to use their own power and influence 
differently to impact an agenda or help make change. 

Between February and August 2019, a small number of 
network members met to discuss this, and began to develop 
an influence diagram to see how different parts of the system 
in York are linked, and understand where there are ‘flows’ 
of influence between different structures, organisations and 
individuals. 

An influence diagram draft is in production, and is ready to 
be developed by network members.  

This work is supported by a Core Facilitation Team from different organisations. The team’s role is to i) bring 
people together to collectively decide what to focus on ii) support people’ capacity to work as a system and 
iii) bring together data, information and stories to drive learning and adaptation.

Catherine Scott: Healthwatch York 

Healthwatch York supports people to influence local health and social care services such as hospitals, care 
homes, GP surgeries, Home care services and many others. Health Watch supports people to get involved 
in shaping services according to communities need. Catherine brings her experience of working across 
different agencies.   

Kelly Cunningham: Changing Lives 

Changing Lives is a national charity dedicated to supporting people with the most complex needs to make 
meaningful and lasting improvements to their lives. We help people to develop the skills and self-belief to 
move past prior experiences, change their story and achieve a better future – for themselves, their families 
and their communities.  Kelly brings her experience of managing and running services.

Paul Connery: Freelance Consultant 

Paul has worked in the voluntary sector for over 13 years both managing a frontline homeless service and 
as a key strategic lead for homelessness across North West England, influencing service improvement 
and innovation alongside system and culture change to prevent and tackle homelessness.  Paul brings his 
experience of delivering training programmes, including peer support. 

Habiba Nabatu: Lankelly Chase 

Lankelly Chase is an independent foundation that works in partnership with people create systems that 
are effective in responding to the interlocking nature of severe disadvantages such as homelessness, drug 
misuse, violence and abuse and mental ill health. Habiba brings her experience of funding work across 
different agencies.

The team is supported by other people including Pauline Roberts, Northumbria University and YorkMix. 

Find out more information about the network at www.yorkmcn.org

About the Core Facilitation Team

Made in collaboration with YorkMix

Page 46



It’s my life: 
living with multiple 
needs in York

Page 47



York’s Underbelly

Page 48



3

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

In 2017, work began to create a Multiple and Complex Needs Network in York. In this report, ‘people 
with lived experience of multiple needs’ refers to people who experience a combination of problems 
such as homelessness, substance misuse, mental health difficulties and contact with the criminal justice 
system. These are people who may fall through gaps in services and systems and may be offered servic-
es which do not address their needs, ultimately preventing them from leading fulfilling lives. 

The Converge Evaluation and Research Team (CERT) was commissioned by the York Multiple and 
Complex Needs Network to conduct a peer research project – to go out and speak to people with lived 
experience of multiple needs in York. This was to facilitate hearing the voices and stories of people who 
face multiple disadvantage, and ultimately to use this data to influence how services in York work with 
people who have multiple needs. 

This research has been used to create both this report, and a piece of theatre entitled, It’s My Life! 

Methods

Our first action was to create a reference group consisting of people with lived experience of multiple 
needs, CERT members, and professionals. In our first meeting we discussed potential areas of enquiry, 
and possible research methods. CERT was particularly concerned about the language we use – we 
wanted to ensure it was respectful and non-stigmatising. People with lived experience of multiple needs 
(the term they chose) voted on alternative descriptions (see page 14). After extensive discussion, the 
people with lived experience selected 13 areas of importance to share with our interviewees (page 13).

After obtaining permission from York St John University ethics committee, we conducted six in-depth 
interviews, short interviews ‘on the street’, and interviews with two professionals. We had a very loose cri-
teria for inviting people to interview –we contacted them through agencies which support people with 
lived experience of multiple needs. We did not ask people which ‘needs’ they have. 

AnAlysis

Our in-depth interviews were discussed collectively by a group of people with lived experience of 
multiple needs and CERT researchers in an ‘analysis group’. By involving people with lived experience at 
this analysis stage we can ensure the conclusions we come to about the data are valid and reflect real 
peoples’ experiences. The discussions which occurred in these meetings are included here as data.

Findings

We asked the people with lived experience of multiple needs during their interview to choose the three 
areas which they think are most important from the list on page 13. Their choices are shown on page 
18. The findings of this study are organised by the top 6 of 13 areas. In addition, ‘knowing where to get 
services’ has also been included because in our initial work it came out as the most important problem.

Executive Summary

Page 49



4

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Access to good and timely mental health support

Many individuals we interviewed in-depth indicated that they struggled with their mental health or 
that they had a mental health diagnosis and discussed their experience of accessing (or wishing to 
access) mental health services. There was a consensus that the mental health support for people with 
lived experience of multiple needs are lacking, especially for those abusing substances. One interviewee 
expressed that:

Mental health services need to be more understanding [about addiction] (participant (p) 3).  

The analysis group observed that in their experience people struggling with addictions are often re-
fused help for their mental health while they continue using substances. This puts them in an impossible 
position where they are required to stop their main coping strategy before they can access any support. 
The analysis group reflected that mental health professionals are often lacking in their knowledge and 
skills about working with people who abuse substances, and that there is poor communication between 
different agencies. There was a consensus that professionals in contact with people with multiple needs 
should be trained in working with people with mental health needs.  

A good long-term relationship with one worker

A common feature emerging from our research was the importance of developing a good, strong, con-
sistent and long-term relationship with one profession (e.g. support worker, mental health nurse, GP): 

[You need] a helping hand who will do the journey with you until you get to the point where 
you can do it yourself… If you have a wobble you can talk to them (p3)

The discussion group felt the long-term relationship was crucial for creating a truly personalised support 
programme which asks which services a person wants to receive and offers them in a flexible way. As 
such, developing trust in this relationship seems to be felt to be necessary for facilitating recovery:

If you’re doing one-to-one work, trust is vital, and that [comes] from continuity…too much 
having to see different people makes [building] trust very difficult (p2)

Analysis group members explained that one of the reasons seeing the same professional is that they 
don’t need to constantly be re-telling their story each time they see someone new – this is particularly 
important if they find re-telling their story traumatic and distressing, or feel shame and stigmatised 
about it.

A safe place to recover 

For those experiencing substance abuse, the importance of finding somewhere safe to recover, either 
as a day offering or residential service, was a strong theme. There are both day services and residential 
services offered in York by Changing Lives, The Salvation Army and Sunshine Changing Lanes (see 
appendix 1 for details about services mentioned in this report).

Experience of services

Several interviewees and members of the analysis group expressed satisfaction with services in York. 
One interviewee was grateful for the safety and sanctuary they experienced at the residential service at 
Union Terrace, and felt this was vital to his recovery:

I was in the fortunate position that I was taken in by the service at Union Terrace and able 
to live there while I worked on my addiction and mental health. I was fortunate that I had a 
base that gave me an element of safety. If I wasn’t in Union Terrace, I would be rough sleep-
ing (p4)

Page 50



5

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Social networks

The social network of the individual in recovery is important – sometimes, in order to come off drugs 
and/or alcohol, the person often has to lose their circle of friends (as they are still using). Therefore creat-
ing new circles of friends who support their recovery is crucial. Services such as Oak Trees require their 
service users to attend three fellowship (peer support) groups, which promote abstinence to develop a 
peer support network for people all in recovery.

Good quality aftercare 

Aftercare means on-going support for service users after they have completed an intervention. Several 
interviewees and members of the analysis group had completed the 12-week Oak Trees programme 
(see appendix 1): after graduating, participants get just two hours per week of support and are expected 
to find their own way to fill their time. Some of our interviewees found this switch extremely challeng-
ing, and felt it left people unnecessarily vulnerable to relapse: 

Oak Trees helped me a lot but at the end of the 12-week programme it was like being thrown 
to the wolves… I know several people who have relapsed… more safe places are needed, 
services to help people to maintain [their recovery] (p1)

There was a consensus in the analysis group that a more gradual withdrawal of support would be more 
effective in helping people maintain their abstinence in the long-term:

I’d like a gradual come down with more effective support… it’s very easy to drop back into 
the old behaviour… services should be more open ended and a bit more supportive (p4)

What will get dealt with first?

Page 51



6

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Stigma and respect

Many people we spoke to shared having experienced stigma from professionals working with them:

More education would stop people being so judgemental. Unless you seem like a decent 
member of society, they’re [professionals] not willing to help (p3)

Members of the analysis group shared how they had felt stigmatised by professionals They reported 
feeling that professionals don’t always respect them, that they have been given unwelcome labels, and 
that they have been written them off as a lost cause or not worth helping. Sometimes they have sensed 
that professionals are blaming them for their difficulties. 

A particularly concerning issue of respect was raised by our interviewees at both Carecent and Food not 
Bombs – there is nowhere safe for rough sleepers to leave their possessions during the day. It is current 
practice for City of York Council employees to remove and dispose of any unattended possessions. This 
seems to be especially disrespectful and undignifying.

A quicker response and shorter waiting times 

A common theme throughout our interviews and analysis group was that to end their substance abuse, 
the person has to be ‘ready’, otherwise the intervention will be pointless:

Addiction took my life… [in this state of mind] I wouldn’t have wanted to know if anything 
was available… I had to get to a very low point to be ready to address the problems I had 
with alcohol abuse (p4)

The problem identified here is the speed of access to services which can support people when “it comes 
crashing down” (p3). The challenge of having to wait days or weeks for support when in crisis or at ‘rock 
bottom’ was discussed at length by people in the analysis group. There was a feeling that it is crucial that 
when a person realises, they want support, services should respond by offering support immediately, in 
hours or days, not weeks or months. 

Knowing where to get services

A major barrier to recovery is the lack of awareness by professionals working with people with multiple 
needs of services which could help them:

I went through my GP for referrals but now know that they don’t really know what is avail-
able. Once, the doctor gave me three numbers to phone for services. None of them were 
relevant. There are places to go but they aren’t signposted (p4)

My social worker hadn’t heard of Lifeline, Oak Trees or Changing Lives. If I’d got the help 
then, things probably wouldn’t have gone any further (p3)

The case for a one-stop hub?

Almost universally, the people we interviewed expressed the belief that there is a need for a one-stop 
hub for people with multiple needs. They feel that at present, services in York are disjointed, fail to com-
municate, have blurred and duplicated pathways, and in some cases are even in competition with each 
other for funding:  

A safe place or hub – people just have to go to one place… it would save having to go to 
several different services before finding the right thing (p7)

At a multiple needs hub, a visitor could get help to address all of their needs, beginning with the most 
basic ones – food, warmth, safety, hygiene, and appropriate healthcare –through to more complicated 
things such as help with claiming benefits, searching for work, and to getting permanent accommoda-
tion themselves. Families and friends of the people using the service could also get support there.

Page 52



7

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Additional improvements suggested 
by those with lived experience

Suggestions from our in-depth interviewees:

• A welcoming, respectful service

• Somewhere to go which feels safe 

• Different options for people choosing services for themselves

• Quicker responses and shorter waiting times

• Support for friends and family

• Continuity of care

• Professionals being aware of other available services

• Reduction in stigma and promotion of acceptance

• Support from people with lived experience

• Access to appropriate help and/or diagnosis for people with mental 
health difficulties

Suggestions from Carecent and Food not Bombs:

• Asking the person what they want help with, rather than assuming you know 
what they need most

• More and better accommodation

• Good quality, timely healthcare: access to GP services, vaccinations, dental services, and to specialist hospital 
services

• Access to day-time activities: clubs which provide for their leisure and social needs

• Financial help for travelling around the city (e.g. bus passes)

• Support claiming benefits, especially where they have to do it online and don’t have an address

• Access to suitable clothing for the season, sleeping bags and tents where the person chooses to sleep rough, and replacements 
if they get wet or are taken away

• Better communication between agencies, raising awareness of services available

• Specialist outreach to find vulnerable people who cannot communicate their needs, especially when they have mental 
health difficulties

• Council workers not removing possessions from the street

• Dedicated homelessness workers who get to know people really well and help them to navigate the 
system

Page 53



8

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Which way to go?

CERT recommendations:

• Improved support for those with mental health needs:

• Designing a system which can allow individuals to build a long-term relationship with a consistent professional who has the 
skills and knowledge to help them access the services they need in a timely fashion. This includes access to services offered by 

different agencies, and will be bespoke and personalised for each individual, and flexible to change as time goes on. 

• The length of aftercare for people who have graduated from recovery programmes should be individualised and based on their 
needs.

• Professionals working with people with multiple needs should be offered supervision to support them to work in a way which is 
non-stigmatising and is hopeful for the futures of their service users. No-one should be given up on.

• The issue of rough sleepers having their possessions removed should be addressed urgently, especially with respect to York 
becoming the UK’s first Human Rights City in April 2017. We see the disposal of possessions as denying rough sleepers’ right to 

dignity and respect. Alternatives such as lockers or other self-storage options should be considered.

• Efforts should be made to clarify what agencies do so that referral pathways are clear, in particular, working to 
avoid duplication of services, and avoiding situations where different agencies are in competition for service users or 

for funding. This would make joined-up working more straightforward and effective. 

• We concur with our interviewees that the possibility of developing a central hub should be seriously 
explored.

• Specialist mental health workers for people with multiple 
needs.

• Training in how to work with people with multiple needs for all mental 
health professionals.

• Training in mental health for all professionals who come into 
contact with people with multiple needs.

Page 54



9

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Limitations of this report:

• We are aware that the people we spoke to in researching this report are not a comprehensive rep-
resentation of people with lived experience multiple needs in York. In particular, we did not conduct 
any in-depth interviews with any rough sleepers, and only interviewed in-depth one person who 
described contact with the criminal justice system.

• We quickly became aware in our ‘on the street’ interviews, that some people were suspicious of our 
motivations, and were extremely reluctant to sign a consent form In future work, we need to find a 
way of working with people in this situation which makes them feel safe.

• Almost all of the people we interviewed in-depth struggled with substance abuse, but not all 
people with multiple needs are substance abusers. The perspectives of those who don’t abuse sub-
stances in this system should be sought in future work.

Conclusions

CERT was commissioned by The Multiple and Complex Needs Network in York to conduct a peer 
research project, to seek the voices and stories of people who face multiple disadvantage in York. 
Using in-depth and short ‘on the street’ interviews, we identified that the priorities of people with lived 
experience of multiple needs are access to good and timely mental health support; a good, long term 
relationship with one worker; a safe place to recover; a good quality aftercare; stigma and respect; and 
a quicker response and shorter waiting times. Knowing where to get help also emerged as important. 
Various improvements were suggested by the people with lived experience of multiple needs that we 
interviewed, including the creation of a one-stop hub. CERT also made recommendations, including 
suggesting mental health training, facilitating long-term relationships, human rights issues, and con-
ducting further research to hear the voices of people with lived experience of multiple needs which we 
did not reach in this project.

Page 55



Table of Contents

Methods _______________________________ 3
Analysis ____________________________________________ 3
Findings ____________________________________________________ 3
Access to good and timely mental health support _____________________________ 4
A good long-term relationship with one worker __________________________________ 4
A safe place to recover  ______________________________________________________ 4
Good quality aftercare  _________________________________________________________ 5
Stigma and respect ______________________________________________________________ 6
A quicker response and shorter waiting times  ______________________________________________ 6
Knowing where to get services __________________________________________________________ 6
The case for a one-stop hub? ______________________________________________________________6
Additional improvements suggested by those with lived experience ____________________________________ 7
Suggestions from Carecent and Food not Bombs ____________________________________________________7
Suggestions from our in-depth interviewees _______________________________________________________ 7
CERT recommendations ______________________________________________________________________ 8
Limitations of this report ______________________________________________________________________ 9
Conclusions _______________________________________________________________________________ 9

 In-depth interviews __________________________________________________________________________ 14
‘On the street’ interviews _______________________________________________________________________ 14
Interviews with professionals _____________________________________________________________________14
What we didn’t do _____________________________________________________________________________ 14
Access to good and timely mental health support ________________________________________________________ 16
A good long-term relationship with one worker _________________________________________________________ 18
A safe place to recover  __________________________________________________________________________19
Experience of services __________________________________________________________________________20
Social networks ______________________________________________________________________________ 20
Good quality aftercare  _________________________________________________________________________ 20
Stigma and respect ___________________________________________________________________________ 21
A quicker response and shorter waiting times  ________________________________________________________ 22
Knowing where to get services __________________________________________________________________ 23
Suggestions from people with lived experience of 
multiple needs we spoke with at Carecent and Food not Bombs ___________________________________________24
Suggestions from our in-depth interviewees _______________________________________________________ 24
The case for a one-stop hub? _________________________________________________________________ 25
Carecent _____________________________________________________________________________28
Food not Bombs ______________________________________________________________________ 28
Changing Lives _____________________________________________________________________ 28
Sunshine Changing Lanes ____________________________________________________________ 30
The Salvation Army Early Intervention and Prevention Team _________________________________ 29
York in Recovery ____________________________________________________________29

Page 56



11

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

introduction

In 2017, work began to create a Multiple and Complex Needs Network in York. 
In this report, ‘people with lived experience of multiple needs’ (the term which 
they chose to use, see page 11) refers to people who experience a combination 
of problems such as homelessness, substance misuse, mental health difficulties 
and contact with the criminal justice system. These are people who may fall 
through gaps in services and systems, and may be offered services which do 
not address their needs, ultimately preventing them from leading fulfilling lives. 
There is on-going work within the network to bring all of the different strands of 
work which goes on in the city together to create a coordinated approach. This 
includes efforts to bring the voices of people with lived experience of multiple 
needs into the work which is being done in the city.

The Converge Evaluation and Research Team is a group of people with lived 
experience of mental health difficulties who have received training in research 
methods at York St John University. Supported by University academics, CERT 
offers bespoke evaluation of mental health services and community projects. Us-
ing inventive approaches, the team specialise in finding ways to support people 
who find it hard to express themselves. CERT is part of Converge, a partnership 
between York St John University and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust. 
Converge delivers educational opportunities to adults who use mental health 
services in York and the surrounding area. 

CERT can be contacted at cert@yorksj.ac.uk 

More details can be found here: www.yorksj.ac.uk/Converge

CERT was commissioned by the York Multiple and Complex Needs Network to 
conduct a peer research project – to go out and speak to people with lived ex-
perience of multiple needs in York. This was to facilitate hearing the voices and 
stories of people who face multiple disadvantage, and ultimately to use this data 
to influence how services in York work with people who have multiple needs. In 
particular, to facilitate moving towards flexible, person-centred support.

This research has been used to create both this report, and a piece of theatre 
called “It’s my life!” 

Page 57



12

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Methods 

Our first action was to create a reference group consisting of people with lived experience 
of multiple needs, CERT members, and professionals who work with people with multi-
ple needs invited by the Complex and Multiple Needs Network. In our first meeting we 
discussed the direction of the project, considering different potential areas of enquiry, and 
possible research methods we could use. We narrowed down 10 areas which people present 
thought were important.

Members of CERT were particularly concerned about the language we would use in the pro-
cess of the evaluation and in our report. We wanted to ensure it was respectful and non-stig-
matising. To address this, in our second meeting we invited suggestions from those present 
for different terms which are used in the field. We then invited people with lived experience 
of multiple needs to vote on which term they would like us to use in our report to describe 
them (excluding from voting CERT members and professionals without any lived experi-
ence). It was clearly decided that they wished to be known as ‘people with lived experience 
of multiple needs’ (see figure 1 overleaf ).

To help us focus our research plan on what is important to people, the next step was to 
invite those in the room with lived experience of multiple needs to rank the ten areas of en-
quiry suggested in the first meeting by their importance (figure 2). Collectively, the list was 
refined and expanded to 13 areas which were shown to our interviewees:

• A quicker response and shorter waiting times

• A good long-term relationship with one worker

• Good quality aftercare

• Support for family and friends

• Personal knowledge of available services 

• Professionals’ knowledge about available services 

• Reduction in stigma – acceptance and respect

• People with lived experience in support roles

• A safe place to recover

• Help to understand what has happened

• A central hub for support

• Relationship with Department for Work and Pensions (accessing benefits)

• Access to good and timely mental health support

Page 58



13

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Figure 1

Figure 2

Page 59



14

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

We got permission from the York St John University Ethics Committee to conduct interviews with peo-
ple with lived experience of multiple needs and professionals who work with them. We decided to:

• Conduct in-depth interviews at the University with people with lived experience of multiple needs, 
with a focus on their experience of services provided to them – what was helpful, what could have 
made things easier or better for them, and about any issues they faced when seeking support.

• Conduct very short interviews ‘on the street’ at sites in the city with people with lived experience of 
multiple needs, asking about their experiences of services as above.

• Conduct interviews with professionals who work with people with lived experience of multiple 
needs about their experience of providing services.

We had a very loose selection criteria for selecting the people approached for permission to interview. 
We contacted people using services which would be accessed by people with multiple needs. However, 
we did not ask our interviewees which ‘needs’ they experienced, for example, whether they were home-
less, struggle with addiction, struggle with their mental health, or have contact with the criminal justice 
system. We asked interviewees to choose what they think are the three most important areas from the 
list of 13 shown on page 12.

In-depth interviews

Successful recruitment for the in-depth interviews was via word-of-mouth from members 
of the reference group. Posters and flyers were not successful. In total, we completed 6 in-
depth interviews at the University (one of which was two people at once as they asked to be 
interviewed together), four female and three males. Due to the time pressure for completing 
this evaluation, we did not think we had enough time to address the ethical and safety con-
cerns around approaching people on the streets, for example, people begging or sleeping 
rough. Therefore, none of the people we completed in-depth interviews with were in that 
situation. Almost all of our in-depth interviewees indicated they had experience of sub-
stance abuse. We are aware this means they are not necessarily a reflective sample of people 
with lived experience of multiple needs in York.

Interviewees were provided with an information sheet explaining our aims, and full written 
consent was gained. Interviewees were assured of their confidentiality and anonymity and 
reminded that they could withdraw at any point or take a break if they wished. With the per-
mission of the interviewee, the in-depth interviews were audio recorded and transcribed.

Food or Spirit?

Page 60



15

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

‘On the street’ interviews

To try and access a broader range of people with lived experience of multiple needs, we attended Care-
cent on 7th October, and Food not Bombs on 28th October (see Appendix 1 for details of the service). A 
CERT researcher also attended an addiction fellowship group. To recruit interviewees, CERT researchers 
approached people using the service, introduced themselves and the project, and asked if they were 
willing to speak with them. A simpler consent form was used, and written notes only were taken.

Interviews with professionals

We interviewed the manager of Carecent to get her perspective on the needs of people using their ser-
vice and ideas she might have for improving things. We also interviewed a Local Area Coordinator who 
works for City of York Council. Local Area Coordinators work with individuals and families of all ages, in 
a flexible person-centred way, to help them access resources within the community to help them get to 
where they want in life. The professionals were provided with an information sheet explaining our aims, 
and full written consent was gained. Written notes only were taken.

Who is going to 
read my bedtime story 

tonight?

What we didn’t do

We would have liked to conduct in-depth interviews with a broader range of people, in particular 
rough sleepers, and with people in contact with the criminal justice system. However, given the time 
constraints of this project, we were not confident that we had time to negotiate the ethical and safety 
considerations of working with these groups of people. We hoped to get some access to this population 
through our interviews at Carecent and Food not Bombs.

AnAlysis

The in-depth interviews were discussed collectively with a group of people with lived experience of 
multiple needs and CERT members in an ‘analysis group’. It was important to us that people with lived 
experience were involved in this process to help us ensure the conclusions we reach about our data are 
valid and reflect real peoples’ experiences. The discussions about the in-depth interviews which oc-
curred in these meetings are included here as data.

Page 61



16

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Findings

We asked the people with lived experience of multiple needs during their interview to choose the three 
areas which they think are most important from the list on page 5. Their choices are shown below in 
figure 3. The findings of this study will be organised by the top 6 of 13 areas. In addition, ‘knowing where 
to get services’ has also been included because in our initial work it came out as the most important 
problem and it was felt to be an important point to include.

• Access to good and timely mental health support

• A good, long term relationship with one worker

• A safe place to recover

• Good quality aftercare

• Stigma and respect

• A quicker response and shorter waiting times

Access to good and timely mental health support

Many of the individuals we interviewed in-depth indicated that they struggled with their mental health 
or that they had a mental health diagnosis. They discussed their experience of accessing (or wishing to 
access) mental health services in York. Mental health also featured heavily in our ‘on the street’ inter-
views and interviews with professionals. It is worth being clear here that not all of the people we spoke 
to have mental health difficulties, with or without problems with substance abuse. However, for many 
people with lived experience of multiple needs we spoke to, poor mental health and substance abuse 
co-occur.

There seems to be a consensus that the mental health support for people with lived experience of 
multiple needs are lacking, especially for those who abuse substances. One interviewee expressed that 
“mental health services need to be more understanding [about addiction]” (p3).  Others were frustrated that 
services often “[need to go] through all of the service users’s history yet again” (p6&7) each time they are seen. 

Mental health was discussed at length by the analysis group. Members felt that mental health services 
should be involved sooner where the individual has mental health difficulties in addition to substance 
misuse, as the mental health problem may be the cause of the substance misuse. 

Help!

Page 62



17

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

The analysis group observed that in their experience people struggling with addictions are often refused 
help for their mental health while they continue using substances. This puts them in an impossible posi-
tion where they are required to stop their main coping strategy before they can access any support. One 
member had personal experience of not being able to access support for their mental health while they 
continued to drink, despite believing their drinking to be a consequence of a mental health problem 
– meaning he needs mental health support in order to recover. Others described how getting a formal 
diagnosis for their difficulties facilitated them getting the support they needed.

The analysis group also reflected that in their experience, mental health professionals are often lacking 
in their knowledge and skills about working with people who abuse substances, and that there is poor 
communication between different agencies. There was a consensus that professionals in contact with 
people with multiple needs, for example, housing workers, should be trained in working with people 
with mental health needs.

One member of the analysis group described how he had needed to push very hard for mental health 
support, reflecting that many people in his situation may be too unwell or too intimidated to push for 
it. Another described being repeatedly rejected by mental health services because they were still using 
drugs and did not have stable housing. Members also experienced feeling stigmatised by mental health 
professionals because of their substance abuse. Other problems discussed by the analysis group were 
not getting appointment letters because they do not have an address, and then being discharged be-
cause of missed appointments – which they missed because they never received the appointment letter.

Another interviewee expressed the importance of counsellors who support them having lived experi-
ence of multiple needs:

Counsellors without lived experience don’t know what it’s about… I had help from those 
who had got to the other side, back from alcohol (p3)

For people struggling with addiction, alongside mental health is the importance of understanding the 
cause of the addiction, and understanding this is the only way you will recover:

You can’t deal with addiction if you don’t know what caused it… It’s like a wound, you’ve got 
to clean it out properly, not just cover it up (p3)

Members of the analysis group also described the ‘lottery’ of which professional you get assigned (this 
extends beyond mental health support to all professionals who work with people with multiple needs). 
The variables in this lottery include the personality of the worker (whether they get on with you), the 
professional skills of the worker in both developing a therapeutic relationship and being able to offer 
appropriate interventions, the time they have to see you and understand your difficulties, the prejudic-
es/assumptions the professional has, their power or willingness to act, and their knowledge of services 
which might be able to help.

First port of call?

Page 63



18

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

A good long-term relationship with one worker

A common feature emerging from our research was the importance 
of developing a good, strong, consistent and long-term relationship 
with one worker (e.g. support worker or mental health nurse), and 
the same GP to people with multiple needs (aftercare from therapeu-
tic services is covered separately later): 

[You need] a helping hand who will do the journey with 
you until you get to the point where you can do it your-
self… If you have a wobble you can talk to them (p3)

Weekly meetings with someone to talk to… not always 
like a treatment, but it can lead to feeling better (p6&7)

The discussion group felt the long-term relationship was crucial for 
creating a truly personalised support programme which asks which 
services a person wants to receive and offers them in a flexible way. 
As such, developing trust in this relationship seems to be felt to be 
necessary for facilitating recovery:

It’s essential to build up trust… you need someone who 
knows. [Without this] I’d clam up and wouldn’t talk (p3)

If you’re doing one-to-one work, trust is vital, and that 
[comes] from continuity…too much 
having to see different people makes [building] trust 
very difficult (p2)

Longevity of support was discussed extensively in the analysis group. 
Members shared stories of whilst being desperate for help, strug-
gling to get GP appointments in the first place, not being able to 
see a GP which knows them, and then feeling like they didn’t have 
enough time with their GP to start to work on their problems and get 
adequate support. The members explained that one of the reasons 
seeing the same person (GP or other worker) is that they don’t need 
to constantly be re-telling their story each time they see someone 
new – this is particularly important if they find re-telling their story 
traumatic and distressing, or feel shame and stigmatised when talk-
ing about it.

The start of a new journey?

Hope for the forgotten 
few?

Page 64



19

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

A safe place to recover 

For those experiencing substance abuse, the importance of finding somewhere 
safe to recover, either as a day offering or residential service, was a strong theme 
in the interviews, and also in the analysis group discussions. In York, Changing 
Lives offers both formal day (Oak Trees and Blossom Street – formerly Lifeline) 
and residential services (Union Terrace – men and Robinson Court – women 
and young people) and an outreach service for people who are multiply exclud-
ed and have complex needs. The Salvation Army has an Early Intervention and 
Prevention Team for homeless people (see appendix 1 for more details about 
services mentioned in this report). Sunshine Changing Lanes also offer support 
to people with multiple needs in York. These services all seek to offer their ser-
vice users a safe place to recover. 

Participant 5 describes frustration at never experiencing the consistency of 
having a single, long-term relationship with one person, focusing specifically on 
her needs: “I feel like I’m being passed from pillar to post.” Members of the analy-
sis group shared this feeling, for example, feeling like they are being bounced 
around the system between different services with no-one taking the lead in, or 
responsibility for supporting them.

Others discussed what happens when you struggle to build a relationship with 
their worker:

If you don’t feel comfortable with your worker, you need to find out 
why, not just be written down [and dismissed] as ‘not engaging’ 
(p6&7) 

Your accommodation is 
ready!

Page 65



20

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Experience of services

Several interviewees and members of the analysis group expressed high praise for the 12-week Oak 
Trees programme. They felt it was an opportunity to address their difficulties in a way they had never 
experienced before:

It wasn’t until I got to Oak Trees that anyone asked me why [I had an addiction]. I’d ended up 
addicted to alcohol and no-one, not one of the doctors [I had seen], had asked that (p1) 

One interviewee was grateful for the safety and sanctuary they experienced at the residential service at 
Union Terrace, and felt this was vital to his recovery:

I was in the fortunate position that I was taken in by the service at Union Terrace and able 
to live there while I worked on my addiction and mental health. I was fortunate that I had 
a base that gave me an element of safety. If I wasn’t in Union Terrace, I would be rough 
sleeping… I had security because Union Terrace has rather challenging residents. I had the 
sanctity of my own room… (p4)

One member of the analysis group described a potentially serious problem which happens occasionally 
– housing people in recovery from addiction with people who are still actively abusing substances. This 
inappropriate housing obviously puts them at extremely high risk of relapse.

Social networks

The analysis group discussed another component of a safe place to recover – the social network of the 
individual in recovery. Sometimes, in order to come off drugs and/or alcohol, the person often has to 
lose their circle of friends (as they are still using), which leaves them vulnerable and isolated, which can 
impact on their mental health and put their recovery at risk. Therefore, creating new circles of friends 
who support their recovery is crucial. 

Services such as Oak Trees require their service users to attend three fellowship (peer support) groups. 
Fellowship meetings such as Alcoholics Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous follow the 12-Step pro-
gramme, and involve a meeting format where people dealing with addiction meet and lend each other 
support. This helps to develop a fresh peer social network of people all in recovery who are abstaining.

Good quality aftercare 

Aftercare means on-going support for service users after they have completed an intervention, such as a 
recovery programme. Several interviewees and members of the analysis group had completed the Oak 
Trees programme (see appendix 1). This programme comprises of 12-week full-time intensive therapy. 
After graduating from it, participants get just two hours per week of support from Oak Trees and are 
expected to find their own way to fill their time, including attending the fellowship groups they found. 
Some of our interviewees found this switch extremely challenging, and felt it left people unnecessarily 
vulnerable to relapse: 

Oak Trees helped me a lot but at the end of the 12-week programme it was like being thrown 
to the wolves… I know several people who have relapsed… more safe places are needed, 
services to help people to maintain [their recovery] (p1)

It’s tricky… it can lead to relapse… you go from intense [support] to nothing… there needs 
to be more aftercare. Oak Trees only has two hours per week. You make friends with people 
on the programme, but then you’re out on your own. (p3)

Page 66



21

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Aftercare is once a week. In my opinion it’s not enough. You’ve had three months of intensive 
work, then there’s a certificate and the door. One and a half hours per week is not enough… 
I knew a guy who came out after 12 weeks and went on a bender that night (p4).

There was a consensus in the analysis group that a more gradual withdrawal of support would be more 
effective in helping people maintain their abstinence in the long-term. Participant 4 described how they 
would prefer a more phased reduction in support:

I’d like a gradual come down with more effective support… there isn’t anyone to check on 
me but I am in a position to be able to check on myself… it’s very easy to drop back into the 
old behaviour… services should be more open ended and a bit more supportive (p4)

My decision today pick 
up or leave behind?

Stigma and respect

Many of the people we spoke to in both our in-depth interviews, 
street interviews and among the analysis group, shared having expe-
rienced stigma from professionals working with them:

More education would stop people being so judgemen-
tal. Unless you seem like a decent member of society, 
they’re [professionals] not willing to help (p3)

If society keeps working to decrease stigma, it’s all for 
the good… It’s an illness. If services do more about that 
too, it would be a massive leap forwards (p2)

For some interviewees, this stigma was internalised:

I wasn’t able to let it out… I couldn’t even discuss it 
with my wife (p2)

I was just a pathetic person who couldn’t cope (p1)

Another interviewee felt the Police Service discriminated against 
her:

People keep treating me like a criminal, but what has 
happened to me is criminal (p5)

Members of the analysis group shared how at times they had felt stigmatised by professionals and those 
around them, and experience ‘feeling like everything is against them’. They reported feeling that pro-
fessionals don’t always respect them, that they have been given unwelcome labels, and that they have 
been written them off as a lost cause or not worth helping. Sometimes they have sensed that profes-
sionals are blaming them for their difficulties. Importantly, they observe that the first contact of a service 
with an individual is particularly crucial – if the person is unhappy with the contact they may withdraw 
and never ask for help again. Participant 2 suggested that professionals should keep an open mind and 
be welcoming and supportive in their first meeting:

If the first engagement with a service isn’t welcoming, it will frighten people off. There’s lots 
of fear already… I have always felt desperate, lonely and isolated (p2)

A particularly concerning issue of respect was raised by our interviewees at both Carecent and Food not 
Bombs – there is nowhere safe for rough sleepers to leave their possessions during the day. It is current 
practice for City of York Council employees to remove and dispose of any unattended possessions. This 
seems to be especially disrespectful and undignifying.

Page 67



22

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

A quicker response and shorter waiting times 

A common theme throughout our interviews and analysis group was that to end their substance abuse, 
the person has to be ‘ready’, otherwise the intervention will be pointless:

My mind set was controlled by alcohol… I would do what I needed to get by, and what was 
needed to get alcohol… It didn’t matter who I hurt; addiction took my life… [in this state of 
mind] I wouldn’t have wanted to know if anything was available… I had to get to a very low 
point to be ready to address the problems I had with alcohol abuse (p4)

I honestly think all along help was there if I had wanted it… I decided ‘enough was enough’, 
by then I had the gift of desperation… mentally and physically I had nothing left (p2)

You can preach to someone, try and help them, but they need to want to do it themselves… 
if you’re not ready, you’re not ready – it doesn’t matter what your friends and family think 
(analysis group member)

The problem identified here is the speed of access to services which can support people when “it comes 
crashing down… it’s that or death” (p3). Participant 2 described how he was referred to Changing Lives in 
crisis. He was trying to reduce alcohol consumption by himself while waiting for this appointment, but 
was struggling, and was telephoning them over and over again to find out when he would get to see 
someone and found the delay in support very distressing. 

The challenge of having to wait days or weeks for support when in crisis or at ‘rock bottom’ was dis-
cussed at length by people in the analysis group. There was a feeling that it is crucial that when a person 
realises they want support to overcome their substance misuse, services should respond to this moti-
vation quickly by offering support immediately, in hours or days, not weeks or months. If this does not 
happen, the person may fall back into their addictive behaviour, and even worse, perhaps internalising 
stigma that they are not worthy or help or that they are hopeless and will never recover.

I don’t have anywhere to get to…

Page 68



23

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Knowing where to get services

A major barrier to recovery is the lack of awareness by professionals working with people 
with multiple needs of services which could help them:

I went through my GP for referrals but now know that they don’t really know 
what is available. Once, the doctor gave me three numbers to phone for servic-
es. None of them were relevant. There are places to go but they aren’t signpost-
ed. What is needed is some sort of list or place to find out about everything 
available in your area (p4)

My social worker hadn’t heard of Lifeline, Oak Trees or Changing Lives. If I’d got 
the help then, things probably wouldn’t have gone any further. Social workers 
are blind and naïve about addiction… They don’t know what direction to send 
people… once the kids are away there’s no thought to helping the mother… 
they have ticked their boxes (p3)

In my recovery, I realise there are lots of services out there, but they are not pro-
moted, not known. I’ve found out recently about ‘York in Recovery’, a forum set 
up to help people in recovery. I found out about it eight months after I graduat-
ed from Oak Trees (p4)

Participants 6&7 commented that a better awareness of services on offer could be used to 
create a detailed and person-centred multi-agency plan for each service user which would 
help facilitate individuals’ recovery. In addition, participant 3 observed that:

Services can’t help if they don’t know what they are doing… Services should 
work together instead of being separate all the time… (p3)

Crossroads?

Page 69



Additional improvements suggested by 
those with lived experience

Suggestions from our in-depth interviewees:

• A welcoming, respectful service

• Somewhere to go which feels safe 

• Different options for people choosing services for themselves

• Quicker responses and shorter waiting times

• Support for friends and family

• Continuity of care

• Professionals being aware of other available services

• Reduction in stigma and promotion of acceptance

• Support from people with lived experience

• Access to appropriate help and/or diagnosis for people with mental 
health difficulties

Suggestions from Carecent and Food not Bombs:

• Asking the person what they want help with, rather than assuming you know 
what they need most

• More and better accommodation

• Good quality, timely healthcare: access to GP services, vaccinations, dental services, and to specialist hospital 
services

• Access to day-time activities: clubs which provide for their leisure and social needs

• Financial help for travelling around the city (e.g. bus passes)

• Support claiming benefits, especially where they have to do it online and don’t have an address

• Access to suitable clothing for the season, sleeping bags and tents where the person chooses to sleep rough, and replacements 
if they get wet or are taken away

• Better communication between agencies, raising awareness of services available

• Specialist outreach to find vulnerable people who cannot communicate their needs, especially when they have mental 
health difficulties

• Council workers not removing possessions from the street

• Dedicated homelessness workers who get to know people really well and help them to navigate the 
system

Multiple and CoMplex needs in York

Page 70



Suggestions from our in-depth interviewees:

• A welcoming, respectful service

• Somewhere to go which feels safe 

• Different options for people choosing services for themselves

• Quicker responses and shorter waiting times

• Support for friends and family

• Continuity of care

• Professionals being aware of other available services

• Reduction in stigma and promotion of acceptance

• Support from people with lived experience

• Access to appropriate help and/or diagnosis for people with mental 
health difficulties

25

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Switch your lights off on the way out!

The case for a one-stop hub?

Almost universally, the people we interviewed expressed the belief that there is a need for some sort of 
one-stop hub for people with multiple needs. They feel that at present, services in York are disjointed, 
fail to communicate with each other, have blurred and duplicated pathways, and in some cases are even 
in competition with each other for funding:  

A safe place or hub – people just have to go to one place… it would save having to go to 
several different services before finding the right thing (p7)

At a multiple needs hub, a visitor could get help to address all of their needs, beginning with the most 
basic ones – food, warmth, safety, hygiene, and appropriate healthcare –through to more complicated 
things such as help with claiming benefits, searching for work, and to get a flat for themselves. Families 
and friends of the people using the service could also get support there.

A building where people from all areas can be… a safe place where you can get help here 
and there… people with experience (p3)

A place where anyone can go. An addict could get help. Partners, friends, colleagues could 
go in and say ‘I’m concerned about [this person], how can I help them?’ (p4)

At the hub, people would get a personalised, long-term support package, with help from appropriate 
professionals according to their needs (rather than the needs of the system). The service would have 
hope that all users can achieve a life they feel is fulfilling.

Page 71



26

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

CERT recommendations:

• Improved support for those with mental health needs:

• Designing a system which can allow individuals to build a long-term relationship with a consistent professional who has the 
skills and knowledge to help them access the services they need in a timely fashion. This includes access to services offered by 

different agencies, and will be bespoke and personalised for each individual, and flexible to change as time goes on. 

• The length of aftercare for people who have graduated from recovery programmes should be individualised and based on their 
needs.

• Professionals working with people with multiple needs should be offered supervision to support them to work in a way which is 
non-stigmatising and is hopeful for the futures of their service users. No-one should be given up on.

• The issue of rough sleepers having their possessions removed should be addressed urgently, especially with respect to York 
becoming the UK’s first Human Rights City in April 2017. We see the disposal of possessions as denying rough sleepers’ right to 

dignity and respect. Alternatives such as lockers or other self-storage options should be considered.

• Efforts should be made to clarify what agencies do so that referral pathways are clear, in particular, working to 
avoid duplication of services, and avoiding situations where different agencies are in competition for service users or 

for funding. This would make joined-up working more straightforward and effective. 

• We concur with our interviewees that the possibility of developing a central hub should be seriously 
explored.

• Specialist mental health workers for people with multiple 
needs.

• Training in how to work with people with multiple needs for all mental 
health professionals.

• Training in mental health for all professionals who come into 
contact with people with multiple needs.

Page 72



27

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

CERT are aware that in researching the report, we did not get a true reflection of the different individuals 
in York who have lived experience of multiple needs, in particular rough sleepers and people in contact 
with the criminal justice system (see the limitations section). We suggest that with resources to facilitate 
a longer period of research we could address this imbalance.

Limitations of this report

• We are aware that the people we spoke to in researching this report are not a comprehensive rep-
resentation of people with lived experience multiple needs in York. In particular, we did not conduct 
any in-depth interviews with any rough sleepers, and only interviewed in-depth one person who 
described contact with the criminal justice system.

• We quickly became aware in our ‘on the street’ interviews, that some people were suspicious of our 
motivations, and were extremely reluctant to sign a consent form (despite being very willing to 
talk to us). Reflecting on this, we wonder whether this reluctance comes from poor experience with 
authority or other formal services. In future work, we need to find a way of working with people in 
this situation which makes them feel safe and able to officially record their words when they share 
their story with us.

• Almost all of the people we interviewed in-depth struggled with substance abuse, but not all 
people with multiple needs are substance abusers. The perspectives of those who don’t abuse sub-
stances in this system should be sought in future work.

Busy shopping 
day for whom?

Conclusions

CERT were commissioned by The Multiple and Complex Needs Network in York to conduct a peer 
research project, to seek the voices and stories of people who face multiple disadvantage in York. Using 
in-depth and short ‘on the street’ interviews, we identified that the priorities of people with lived experi-
ence of multiple needs are access to good and timely mental health support; a good, long term rela-
tionship with one worker; a safe place to recover; good quality aftercare; reducing stigma and ensuring 
respect; and a quicker response and shorter waiting times when they ask for support. Knowing where 
to get help also emerged as important. Various improvements were suggested by the people with lived 
experience of multiple needs that we interviewed, including the creation of a one-stop hub and prac-
tical suggestions for how people’s basic needs could be met and how the service could be redesigned. 
CERT also made recommendations, including suggesting mental health training, facilitating long-term 
relationships, human rights issues, and conducting further research to hear the voices of people with 
lived experience of multiple needs which we did not reach in this project.

Page 73



28

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

Carecent:

Carecent is a breakfast centre for homeless, unemployed, or otherwise socially excluded 
members of the community. It provides food, clothing, Internet access and fellowship 
Monday – Saturday, 8.30-10.45 for people over 18. In addition to food, they work with other 
agencies to help move people forwards to ‘an improved lifestyle’. Here, we spoke to roughly 
seven people, mostly men.

http://www.Carecent.org/

Food not Bombs:

Food not Bombs provides free food for everyone in St Helen’s Square every Monday and 
Friday evening at 8pm. Here, we spoke to roughly 6 people, mostly men.

Changing Lives:

Oak Trees 12-week structured, abstinence-based programme for people who wish to be free 
from drugs and alcohol. It includes one-to-one counselling, group therapy, meetings, and 
workshops for developing life skills.

Blossom Street drug and alcohol service (Changing Lives in partnership with Spectrum 
Community Health CIC): Integrative drug and alcohol service comprising both psychosocial 
and clinical interventions, to help anyone who wants to be free from their dependency on 
drugs and/or alcohol.
• One-to-one support and group recovery options
• Community alcohol detoxification
• Substitute prescribing
• Support for friends and family
• Relapse prevention advice and planning
• Signposting to partner services

Union Terrace offers holistic support for men who have experienced homelessness. Along-
side supported accommodation, they offer support in other areas of people’s lives such as 
helping them access health appointments and working towards employment or volunteer-
ing. They have a ‘total acceptance policy’, which means accepting people for who they are, 
and focus on their strengths rather than the problems in their lives, and help them reach 
personal goals that they have set themselves.

Robinson Court offers holistic support for women and young people, with the aim of help-
ing people build brighter futures for themselves and their families. Alongside supported 
accommodation, they offer further support, such as helping with accessing health appoint-
ments, and working towards employment or volunteering. They also have a have a ‘total 
acceptance policy.’

Outreach to multiply-excluded adults with complex needs provides intensive support and 
multi-agency coordination to multiply-excluded adults with complex needs. People using 
this service often have a history of poor engagement with, or exclusion from, local services. 
They aim to break down these barriers to ensure they are receiving appropriate support for 
their individual needs.

https://www.changing-lives.org.uk/services/drug-alcohol/

Appendix 1: York services mentioned in this report

Page 74



29

Converge evaluation and researCh team   

Sunshine Changing Lanes

Sunshine Changing Lanes (SCL) works with and offers support on behavioural 
and emotional reasoning, through delivering educating, experiential awareness 
events. Whilst not therapy our models aid in understanding personal implicit and 
explicit reactions that invite conflict with others or in the self esteem. Our anger 
management, anxiety and stress reducing model educates through emotional 
experience, processing from reflections over life events which invites cognitive 
learning and reasoning via choice and personal growth, this promoting self 
esteem and positive well-being.

https://www.sunshinechanginglanes.com/ 

The Salvation Army Early Intervention and Prevention Team

• Clients may be identified whilst conducting early morning street walks or 
from other homelessness services in York

• Client-led initial assessment which focuses on actions which can be taken 
immediately, including accommodation and any health needs

• Integral part of the City of York ‘No Second Night Out’ scheme
• High profile in York – active presence on all housing-related panels, and 

engages with the Police, probation and community groups

https://www.salvationarmy.org.uk/early-intervention-and-prevention-team

York in Recovery

• York in Recovery (YiR) is a group of people drawn from the community 
working to the common aim of promoting abstinence and visible recovery 
from drug & alcohol addiction in the City of York.

• York in Recovery is not a charity or delivery service, it is the name given to 
the group of charities, service providers and individuals working together to 
develop a supportive Recovery Community in York.  

http://yorkinrecovery.org.uk 

Page 75



30

It’s my lIfe: lIvIng wIth multIple needs In york

The Labour Campaign for Drug Policy Reform (LCDPR)

We are so busy in our lives which the government want of course, that issues like this one are rarely 
challenged. That needs to change. 

I went to a meeting tonight with an agenda which wasn’t quite appropriate for the agenda that was be-
ing discussed in terms of as I listened to the chair of the meeting and the panel of experts from varying 
fields of expertise I realised it was far more complex and a much broader discussion. Mine was focussed 
on the current state of services and the changes I had seen over the five years of my engagement , rather 
than the wider topics being discussed at the debate. It’s only when you attend a meeting like the one 
tonight that you gain and understanding of how complicated the issue is and how so many different 
services are tied to drug and alcohol treatment services. 

It’s not just about the front line services being squeezed to breaking point. It’s about social reform, the 
commissioning  of drug and alcohol services, educating staff in  hospitals and GP’s and the NHS, educa-
tion about drug use in schools and in the  community, prisons, probation and the police , housing and 
street homeless, jobs, child protection issues and child trauma, attitudes towards drug use and decrimi-
nalization, harm reduction, stigmas and minorities,  to name just a few of the topics that were discussed 
in the debate. 

I learned a lot in two hours and I hope I contributed in a constructive manner without taking too much 
of everyone’s time. I spoke out for service users and I raised the issue of the lack of mental health 
support given to clients who are engaging with drug and alcohol services in York ( given I have had to 
re-refer myself into that system approximately fourteen times in the four years of engaging with mental 
health services through my G P and drug and alcohol services having not been offered specific treat-
ment for my complex PTSD which started at the age of thirteen which contributed to the self-medicat-
ing behaviour later in life)and I would like to think I was heard. 

However the one thing I didn’t get to make a point on out of many I admit was of course we are not 
service users or clients or data or statistics, we have names and stories and histories and lives to live. 
We are all individuals with each of us having very individual needs and a very complex set of issues. The 
one thing that I came away with was that the cuts that have already been introduced and the proposed 
cuts in the future for York are unacceptable on every level and it’s all of our duties to fight these cuts 
to budgets for drug and alcohol services now. Not next month or next year but now. I am going to go 
away and collate my thoughts for a few days and then write to Rachael Maskell with a more considered 
and prepared set of proposals to be put forward to the government and the labour party MP’S who are 
fighting for change in services on all levels through calling for reform to the policies for drug and alcohol 
treatment. 

I think it’s our duty as past and present clients to have an input in making a difference for the future 
of services for York and the rest of the country moving forward. Money is everything in being able to  
Implement the changes required and there is an urgent  need for reform of drug and alcohol policies 
as well as other services which all link together. I would welcome anyone to contribute to that letter I 
propose to put together. It’s such a complex issue but I do believe change is possible. It’s not just about 
the rise in death rates related to drug and alcohol misuse for me it’s about the quality of life for every 
individual in the community trying to access help for drug and alcohol misuse treatment. It’s a about 
everyone receiving the same level of care, whatever their background, whatever their situation without 
being discriminated against. It’s about being able to deliver a service that is fit for purpose, which can 
give the individual a set of options in tackling their misuse rather than one pathway which may not suit 
some people. It’s  about raising awareness in fighting for these much needed changes across the board 
from the government right down to the people accessing treatment. In the short term then it’s about 
fighting the cuts in budgets from the last ten years and having that money reinstated to deal with the 
backlog of people seeking treatment, in the long term it’s about a  complete reform of drug and alcohol 
treatment policies.

Appendix 2: 

Page 76



M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X
D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

N O V E M B E R  2 0 1 9

F I N A L  R E P O R T

Page 77



P A G E  |  0 2

We live in one of the happiest cities in the

country. 

 

We were placed top of a European leader

board for culture; and we have

the best High Street in the country. 

 

Visitors to York arriving at our beautiful

train station can meander our

quintessential streets and chocolate box

city centre; eating, drinking and shopping

to their hearts content. 

 

Our stunning heritage, world class

attractions, and ancient architecture create

a sense of safety, romance and tranquillity.

 

However, (and there’s always a however) If

you venture outside of the city walls, you’ll

find areas of deprivation ranked amongst

the worst in the country. 

I N T R O D U C T I O N

W H A T ' S  T H E
P R O B L E M  I N
Y O R K ?

Page 78



P A G E  |  0 3

Children are going to school hungry; drug and

alcohol dependency is widespread; witnessing

or experiencing domestic violence is

commonplace; and unemployment runs two or

three generations deep. 

 

Multiple and complex disadvantage is visible

and apparent in most areas of the city, and is

being perpetuated by all of the factors that

make us such a great city

 

House prices are at their highest levels ever,

creating a buoyant, insecure and at times

cutthroat rental market; intensified by the ever-

increasing student market. 

 

The availability of unskilled jobs has reduced

significantly over the last 20 years

following the closure or relocation of employers

such as Terry’s, Ben Johnson

and Nestle. 

 

Hospitality has become the dominant market

force, and high street retail is facing a national

crisis. 

 

Running alongside this we have seen

nationwide changes to the benefits system,

devastating public sector cuts and

global politics creating deep divisions in society.

M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X  D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

Page 79



P A G E  |  0 4

This short report, and the accompanying film,

highlight some of the reasons people are facing

multiple and complex disadvantages in York, and

explore how the fundamental systems could be

changed to support people experiencing them.

M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X  D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

Page 80



P A G E  |  0 5I N T R O D U C T I O N

York is a very giving city, with strong

historical social action and philanthropic

activities. 

 

We have a buoyant voluntary sector here in

York, with a good mix of larger established

organisations and newer, informal

community groups.

 

The voluntary sector, as we well know, are

experts at responding to local and

immediate need. 

 

New groups are forming regularly to meet

need, in particular around homelessness

and multiple and complex disadvantage. 

 

Almost all are doing this on shoestring

budgets, with no funding, and largely

reliant on the altruism of York residents.

W H E R E  A R E  T H E
S A F E T Y  N E T S ?

Page 81



Social Vision are a small, local social

enterprise, commissioned by Healthwatch

York to capture the views and experiences

of non-commissioned services supporting

people experiencing multiple and complex

disadvantage in the city.

 

Social Vision is a trusted partner for many

organisations and professionals across

York. Our Director’s background working

in the criminal justice system and lived

experience place him perfectly to

understand the issues facing people with

multiple and complex needs. 

 

Social Vision has delivered several

innovative and high impact services and

projects, and our network is constantly

growing. We are not bound by any

statutory, funded or constitutional

obligations, so have the flexibility to

move fast and stay agile.

P A G E  |  0 6S O C I A L  V I S I O N

W H O  A R E
S O C I A L  V I S I O N ?

Page 82



P A G E  |  0 7

Our main focus was a large event, held at the

new Malthouse venue, that brought together

professionals and practitioners to discuss,

explore and debate their experiences and wishes

for multiple and complex needs services across

the city. 

 

This focused on systems change, and perfectly

complemented the York St John researchers’

work with beneficiaries of these services.

 

We brought together the voluntary, community,

social enterprise, consultancy and business

sectors to deliver a mix of networking,

consultation, arts, film and photography.

 

In our preparation and planning for this event,

we brought in key partners and individuals from

across the city, including Gavin Sullivan – a key

ally of Social Vision with lived experience of

homelessness and multiple and complex needs;

Natasha Almond – of Good Organisation who

are mobilising homeless people into the tourism

industry; and Charlotte Dawson – a local artist

who co-ordinates and curates creative sessions

with people from disadvantaged backgrounds.

M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X  D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

Page 83



P A G E  |  0 8

A high profile, invite-only event bringing local multiple and complex needs

professionals together to discuss the issues and solutions.

A short film about the needs and wishes of professionals supporting people

with multiple and complex needs in York.

A guided art session to capture the experiences and wishes of people with lived

experience

A bank of professional images for use across related publications and media

A professionally designed report detailing findings and recommendations

A presentation of the findings of this report A workshop to further explore

some of the solutions arising from the report

We delivered:
 

M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X  D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

Page 84



On Wednesday 9th October, Social Vision's

Social Sofa took over an abandoned

warehouse in York to ask local practitioners

working in the multiple and complex

disadvantage sector two simple questions:

why are people homeless, and how would

you change that?

 

Over 30 people attended the event, which

was set against a backdrop of artwork

created by people with lived experience. 

 

We asked delegates to rip up the rule book,

forget about politics, money or systems.

 

There was a real appetite to explore these

questions, and also to network with other

practitioners. Despite its small size and

village feel, many professionals in York feel

fragmented from other services.

P A G E  |  0 9S O C I A L  S O F A

S P E A K I N G  T O
T H E
P R A C T I T I O N E R S

"Rip up the rule book,
forget about politics,
money or systems."

Page 85



An overwhelming view that housing is too expensive, making the likelihood of
homelessness higher
Low paid jobs and lower disposable income, meaning more in work poverty
Complete failure, and a lack, of mental health services to diagnose and treat
people from a young age
Fragmented service provision which is challenging to navigate for people
experiencing multiple and complex disadvantage
And as ever, a lack of funding and resources. With a feeling that resources are
available but are diverted to other services

Common themes running throughout the night were:
 

P A G E  |  1 0M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X  D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

Page 86



The highlight of the night for Social Vision, was a gentleman with lived
experience who we spoke to privately and asked him the question - what would
have made a difference to you? 
 

In his opinion, a waterproof guide to 'surviving the streets' would have made a
massive difference to him. Featuring a map, services and contact numbers. 
 

Later we spoke to another delegate about this idea, who offered to sponsor it. So
we got a real, tangible outcome from the event, and will work with the York MCN
network to implement it.

P A G E  |  1 1M U L T I P L E  &  C O M P L E X  D I S A D V A N T A G E  I N  Y O R K

Page 87



The following pages detail findings from

the event on the 9th October, and

subsequent workshop at the event on the

20th November.

P A G E  |  1 2F I N D I N G S

W H Y  A R E
P E O P L E
H O M E L E S S  I N
Y O R K ?

Page 88



P A G E  |    1 3S O C I A L  S O F A

S U B S T A N C E  M I S U S E  &
A D D I C T I O N

R E L A T I O N S H I P
B R E A K D O W N

Many delegates told us substance
misuse was a contributing factor in
homelessness – with easy access to
drugs on the streets; a lack of coping
mechanisms brought about by
dependency and addiction; and a
shortfall in appropriate and accessible
support services for those requiring
treatment.

A common factor was people being in
relationships that have broken down,
and finding themselves with nowhere to
live. This often begins as sofa surfing,
before spiralling into street
homelessness.

W H Y  A R E  P E O P L E  H O M E L E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 89



P A G E  |    1 4

H O U S I N G  C R I S I S U N E M P L O Y M E N T

Running throughout the evening was an
absolute and resolute belief that our
housing system is fundamentally
broken, with a lack of quality, affordable
housing; a relentless reduction in the
social housing stock; private landlords
creating insecure tenancies; an increase
in demand from the buoyant student
housing market and a trend towards
short term holiday lets all contributing
to a shortfall in accessible
accommodation.

Access to employment was seen as a
major factor in homelessness. People
with multiple and complex needs are
unable to secure employment, and
where jobs do exist they are often in the
hospitality sector which is incompatible
with people facing drug and/or alcohol
dependencies, or on zero-hour contracts
which don’t offer the security to sustain
living costs.

W H Y  A R E  P E O P L E  H O M E L E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 90



P A G E  |    1 5

I N D E P E N D E N T  
L I V I N G

C H A N G I N G
C O M M U N I T I E S

We heard that, even where housing is
available, some people are simply
unable to live independently. This may
be due in part to mental health issues,
poor literacy levels, or people being
institutionalised to rough sleeping,
making sustaining accommodation
impossible.

We were told people are living more in
bubbles, protecting their own assets 
 and welfare, and generally less
neighbourly. This breakdown in
community spirit increases isolation
and stigma and reduces morale and
self-worth amongst people needing
support.

"I know plenty of
people who still sleep

on the floor. They
won't sleep in a bed
because they're not

used to it."

W H Y  A R E  P E O P L E  H O M E L E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 91



P A G E  |    1 6

M E N T A L  H E A L T H E D U C A T I O N

Mental health was cited as a major
reason people find themselves
homeless, and in particular a significant
reduction in the amount of support
available to those requiring it.
Loneliness, social isolation and stigma
were all referenced as reasons people
facing multiple and complex
disadvantage are unable or unwilling to
access support and feel there’s no safety
net to catch them when things go
wrong.

A lack of education, sometimes running
generations deep, was a contributing
factor in people being unable to sustain
tenancies, access services or complete
the necessary paperwork to seek
support.

"Anybody
can get a home, but

keeping that home is
difficult, even for

people who are
working."

W H Y  A R E  P E O P L E  H O M E L E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 92



P A G E  |    1 7

F R A G M E N T E D
S E R V I C E S

S O F A  S U R F E R S

Despite services existing in the city, the
fragmentation and inaccessibility of
these is causing huge issues for people
facing multiple and complex
disadvantage. Services are only open
within certain hours, outreach is not
widespread enough, and people with
lived experience feel passed around
multiple services to find the right
support. This demoralising and
degrading experience sees people drop
back onto the streets at an early stage.

There is a whole hidden community of
people living with no fixed abode –
often referred to as sofa surfers. These
people are based in temporary
accommodation, often with friends and
family, and caught in a spiral of
insecurity and chaotic lifestyles.

"Most of us are 
only one pay cheque

away from being
homeless."

W H Y  A R E  P E O P L E  H O M E L E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 93



We asked delegates at the event, and in our workshop, to explore how homelessness

could be eradicated from York. Leaving preconceptions, barriers and risks at the door –

what do you feel is the answer?

 

Responses varied from practical solutions, through to hearts and minds responses

about stronger communities. Overall everybody we spoke to felt a sense of injustice

that inequality exists, that people with lived experience are victims of a broken system,

and that the problem is one that can be solved with the right resources and strategic

approach.

P A G E  |  1 8F I N D I N G S

H O W  D O  W E  E N D
H O M E L E S S N E S S
I N  Y O R K ?

Page 94



P A G E  |    1 9

F L E X I B L E  S E R V I C E S O U T R E A C H

Somebody facing crisis requires support
at the right time, in the right place. That
time and place is right to them, not the
system. So there should be ‘no wrong
door’ – every service should be joined up
to enable a full assessment and support
package at whichever door, and
whatever time of day somebody
presents themselves.

Outreach should be invested in, so
people are able to ‘check in’ in their own
space and time, and a thorough
understanding of each individual’s
needs stored and shared on a
centralised system.

H O W  D O  W E  E N D  H O M E L E S S N E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 95



P A G E  |    2 0

A  ' H U B '  M O D E L

In our workshop, a prevalent theme was
that of a single point of access, with 24
hour opening times and professionals
on hand at all times to provide triage
followed by ongoing support, reducing
in intensity over a two year period.

Local authorities should be increasing
their housing stock, much of which was
lost through the Right to Buy scheme.
 
Compulsory Purchase Orders should be
made on vacant properties, and quicker
turnarounds achieved on re-letting
vacant social housing. 
 
Inter-generational and co-living
schemes have proven hugely successful,
and should be compulsory and integral
to every new housing development. 
 
Home share, spare room schemes and
fostering/respite care models could be
piloted.

M O R E  A F F O R D A B L E
H O U S I N G

"Community is a big
part of it. Building

communities where
people can be more

open and honest with
one another. We’ve lost

that a little bit."

H O W  D O  W E  E N D  H O M E L E S S N E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 96



P A G E  |    2 1

Early years support is critical to break generations of multiple
and complex needs. 
 
Positive parental and community role models can be supported
through increased support, lifelong learning opportunities,
better provision for children and young people, and, crucially, a
person-centred approach. 
 
One practical initiative proposed could be a waiver for anybody
entering the housing market with multiple and complex
disadvantage to benefit from a utility waiver, which would cover
all taxes, utilities and expenses for a limited period of time to
help them get established rather than burdening them with
huge financial responsibilities at such a vulnerable time. 
 
Another suggestion was an enhanced business support package
that would support people facing multiple and complex
disadvantage to set up their own micro enterprises, based on
their unique skillsets, enabling self-sufficiency, purpose and
resilience.

R E S I L I E N C E

H O W  D O  W E  E N D  H O M E L E S S N E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 97



P A G E  |    2 2S O C I A L  S O F A

Providing strong, coherent and unified messaging that breaks
stigma, accompanied by positive messaging and representation
of communities facing multiple and complex disadvantage will
influence public opinion and create opportunities to effect
change. 
 
All stigma should be removed from social housing, and a review
of the relationship between success and home ownership. 
 
Underpinning all of this is a need for the population to display
compassion, love and basic humanitarian values in supporting
those facing the most disadvantage. Addressing stigmas and
labels will be the start of this.

T A C K L I N G  S T I G M A

H O W  D O  W E  E N D  H O M E L E S S N E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 98



P A G E  |  2 3S O C I A L  S O F A

Better signposting to services is critical. 
 
Proposals included an online and offline directory of services,
apps, or other tech solutions to information management and
accessibility. 
 
Services, and - importantly - commissioners, must begin to
refocus on the causes of multiple and complex disadvantage, not
just the symptoms. Economically and socially this will have far
reaching benefits for individuals. 
 
Services should be designed that include lifelong wraparound
support and provision.
 
Another proposal was the establishment of regular housing fairs,
similar to a job fair, where people seeking housing could speak
to landlords, social housing providers and registered housing
associations in one place, rather than spending time and energy
going from service to service on an appointment basis.

E N H A N C I N G  S E R V I C E S

H O W  D O  W E  E N D  H O M E L E S S N E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 99



P A G E  |    2 4S O C I A L  S O F A

‘Fixing’ the system was viewed as a more challenging
proposition. 
 
Recommendations included being able to pre-empt
homelessness to avoid people entering the system; introducing a
Housing First model; abolishing the ‘Local Connections’ 
 guidance, and incentivising private landlords through tax breaks
etc to create more affordable housing. 
 
The general feeling was that by challenging stigma, improving
individual resilience; and enhancing service provision, then
changing the systems that facilitate multiple and complex
disadvantage becomes easier to tackle.

F I X I N G  T H E  S Y S T E M

H O W  D O  W E  E N D  H O M E L E S S N E S S  I N  Y O R K ?

Page 100



Social Sofa video - http://bit.ly/socialsofaMCN

 

Social Vision - www.social-vision.org.uk

 

York Multiple & Complex Needs Network - https://yorkmcn.org/

 

Lankellychase Foundation - https://lankellychase.org.uk/

P A G E  |  2 5R E S O U R C E S

F U R T H E R
I N F O R M A T I O N

Page 101



Page 102



Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Scrutiny Committee 

Work Plan 2019-20 

Tuesday 

18 June 2019 
@ 5.30pm 

1. Scrutiny Arrangement Overview Report  

2. Presentation of Public Health Directorate-Sharon Stoltz 

3. Work Plan 

Tuesday 

30 July 2019 

@ 5.30pm 

1. Healthwatch York Six Monthly Performance Report 

2. Executive Member for Health & Adult Social Care, Cllr Runciman, Executive 
Member  

3. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report Cllr Runciman, Chair HHWB 

4. Year End Finance and Performance Monitoring Report   

5. Overview of Health and Adult Social Care Directorate, Sharon Houlden, Director 

6. CSMC Food Poverty Review   

7. Work Plan 

Tuesday 

17 September 2019 

@ 5.30pm 

1. Unity Health Progress Update 
2. CCG: Repeat Medicines Ordering Update  

3. 1st Quarter Finance and Performance Monitoring Report 

4. Six Monthly Quality Monitoring Report – Residential, Nursing and Homecare 
services  

5. Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Annual Assurance Report  

6. Work Plan 

Wednesday 

23 October 2019 

1. Older Persons Accommodation Needs Survey  

2. Substance Misuse Review Implementation Update 

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 6



@ 5.30pm 3. Mental Health Update- Developing a Community approach to Mental Health and 
Wellbeing   

4. Bootham Park Update  

5. Work Plan 

Monday 

11 November 2019 
@ 5.30pm 

1. Review of Adult Safeguarding Policy  

2. Annual Health Protection Assurance Report 

3. Oral Services Update  

4. Work Plan 

 

Tuesday 

17 December 2019 
@ 5.30pm 

1. Older Persons Accommodation Update Report  

2. CCG - Mental Health GP Services closure  

3. Multiple Complex Needs Network Update 

4. Food Poverty Corporate Review  

5. Work Plan 

Tuesday 

21 January 2020 

@ 5.30pm 

1. Healthwatch York six-monthly Performance Report  

2. Multiple Complex Needs Network Update 

3. Work Plan 

Tuesday 

18 February 2020 

@ 5.30pm 

1. Health and Wellbeing Board Bi-annual Report  

2. Six Monthly Quality Monitoring Report – Residential, nursing and homecare 
services  

3. 2nd Quarter Finance and Performance Monitoring report 

4. Adult Safeguarding Policy Update report. 

5. Work Plan 

P
age 104



Thursday 

19 March 2020 

@ 5.30pm 

1. CCG Repeat Prescription Update  

2. 3rd Quarter Finance and Performance Monitoring Report 

3. Work Plan 

Thursday 

23 April 2020 

@ 5.30pm 

1. Work Plan 

Tuesday 

19 May 2020 

@ 5.30pm 

1. Work Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 105



Council Plan Priorities relating to Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Scrutiny Committee 

Good Health and Wellbeing 

 Contribute to mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Health and Wellbeing strategies 

 Improve mental health support and People Helping People scheme 

 Support individual’s independence in their own homes 

 Continue the older persons’ accommodation programme 

 Support substance misuse services 

 Invest in social prescribing, Local Area Coordinators and Talking Points 

 Open spaces available to all sports and physical activity 

 Make York an Autism friendly city 

 Embed Good help principles into services 

 Safeguarding a priority in all services 

Creating Homes and World-class infrastructure 

 Deliver housing to meet the needs of older residents 

A Better Start for Children and Young People 

 Tackle rise in Mental Health issues 

Safe Communities and Culture for All 

 Explore social prescribing at local level to tackle loneliness  

 Expand People Helping People scheme 

 

P
age 106


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Healthwatch York: Performance Monitoring / Six Monthly Review
	5 Multiple Complex Needs Network Update
	Appendix 1 - York MCN Network News
	Appendix 2 - 'It's my life - living with multiple needs in York' CERT Report-compressed
	Appendix 3 - Multiple & Complex Disadvantage in York - Social Vision Report

	6 Work Plan

